
 

Planning Board 

Darrell Watts – Chairman    City Engineer‐Terry Carpenter 

Rocky Clinton‐Vice‐Chairman    City Planner‐Courtney McNair 

Jim Miller‐Secretary      City Attorney‐Harrington‐Miller 

Susan Sedberry‐Member    Public Works Director‐James Clark 

Ken Robertson‐Member    Code Enforcement Officer‐Brett Freeland 

 

Planning Board Agenda 
Date:  November 28, 2017 

Time:  6:00 p.m. – Tontitown Fire Department, 141 S. Zulpo, Tontitown, Arkansas 

__________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

1. Planning Board Meeting Call to Order 

2. Roll Call  

3. Approval of Agenda 

4. Approval of Minutes 

a. Approval of October 24, 2017 Planning Board Minutes  

5. Comments from Citizens 

6. Old Business 

7. New Business 

a. Gills Rezone Request 

b. Westbrook Subdivision Phase 2 Preliminary Plat 

c. Code of Ordinances Updates to Chapter 150, 152, & 153 

8. Reoccurring Items and Items for Review 

a. Review of Approved Projects & Expirations 
b. Review Building Activity 

 
9. Review Items for Placement on City Council Agenda 

a. Gills Rezone Request (if applicable) 

b. Code of Ordinances Updates to Chapter 150, 152, & 153 (if applicable) 

10. Comments from Board Members 

11. Comments from Staff 

a. Discussion of Subcommittee Meeting on November 13, 2017 

i. Synopsis of meeting 

ii. Draft goals 

iii. Outline for next month and set subcommittee meeting date 

12. Meeting Adjourned 
 



 

Planning Board 

Darrell Watts – Chairman  City Engineer-Terry Carpenter 

Rocky Clinton-Vice-Chairman  City Planner-Jeff Hawkins 

Jim Miller-Secretary   City Attorney-Harrington-Miller 

Susan Sedberry-Member  Public Works Director-James Clark 

Ken Robertson-Member  Code Enforcement Officer-Brett Freeland 

 

Planning Board Minutes 
Date:  October 24th, 2017 

Time: 7:00 p.m. – Tontitown City Hall, 235 East Henri de Tonti Boulevard, Tontitown Arkansas 

__________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

1. Planning Board Meeting Call to Order 

2. Roll Call  

All in attendance 

3. Approval of Agenda 

Susan Sedberry motioned to approve agenda    Second by Jim Miller      Motion Passes 

4. Approval of Minutes 

a. Approval of September 26, 2017 Public Hearing Minutes 

b. Approval of September 26, 2017 Planning Board Minutes  

Rocky Clinton motioned to approve both minutes   Second by Susan Sedberry    Motion Passes 

5. Comments from Citizens 

Shannon and Tracie Harrop have requested a variance on their property. Tracie wants to make a beauty salon 
out of one of the structures on their property, it already has its own address and she would only be in operation 
2 to 3 days a week, this will be for appointments only, no walk ins.    

6.  Old Business- None 

7. New Business- None 

8. Reoccurring Items and Items for Review 

a. Review of Approved Projects & Expirations 
Reference city website for detailed report 
 

b. Review Building Activity 
Reference city website for detailed report 
 

9. Review Items for Placement on City Council Agenda- None 

10. Comments from Board Members- None 

11. Comments from Staff-  

Will confirm the location of the next meeting will be held. 

Time change for planning meetings, the new time will be at 6:00pm starting on November 28, 2017. 

12. Meeting Adjourned- All in favor 



 

A -1 
 

 

AGENDA ITEM 

A 
REZONING REQUEST 

470 N. Pianalto Road 

Parcel # 830-37692-000 

 

SUMMARY: Request to rezone a piece of land that is approximately 30 acres in size from R-3 to RE 

CURRENT ZONING: R-3 -  Single-Family Residential - 9,600 square foot minimum lot size; provided 

density shall not exceed three units/net acres (i.e. after dedications are made). 

PROPOSED ZONING: RE - Estate Single-Family Residential – two (2) acre minimum lot size. 

CITY WARD: 2- Arthur Penzo & Larry Ardemagni 

INFRASTRUCTURE SERVICE AREAS (not a guarantee of service availability):  

 Water: Tontitown Water, existing 8” line 

 Electric: Ozarks Electric 

 Sewer/Septic: Septic 

 Phone: AT&T 

 Natural Gas: Black Hills Energy 

 

PROJECT SYNOPSIS:    

This property is owned by Jennifer Pianalto Gills, and located within the City Limits of Tontitown. It 

takes access from N. Pianalto Road. There is one (1) existing residence on site. The residence was 

constructed in 1969, and is approximately 1450 sq. ft.  

 

According to City Code, zone R-3 allows for an accessory building up to 67% of the size of the 

principle use.  The owner would like to construct a larger shop building on this property, and RE 

zoning has no restriction on the size of accessory buildings. 

APPROVAL CRITERIA:    

Not all of the criteria must be given equal consideration by the Planning Commission or City Council 

in reaching a decision. The criteria to be considered shall include but not be limited to the following: 

 

(1) Consistency of the proposal with the comprehensive plan. 

 

STAFF ANALYSIS: The current Future Land Use Plan shows this area as Medium Density 

Residential. While this request is not “medium-density”, it is remaining a residential use. 

 

CITY OF TONTITOWN PLANNING OFFICE 

 201 E. Henri de Tonti Blvd. 
479-361-2700 
planning@tontitownar.gov 

Meeting: November 28, 2017 
Project: Gills Rezone Request 
Planner: Courtney McNair 



 

A -2 
 

(2) Consistency of the proposal with the purpose of these regulations. 

“The regulations are intended to provide for orderly growth and development; for protection of the 

character and stability of residential, commercial, industrial, recreational, and environmentally 

sensitive areas of the city; for protection of property from blight and undue depreciation; for efficiency 

and economy in the process of development for the appropriate and best use of land; for the use and 

occupancy of buildings; for healthful and convenient distribution of population; for good civic design 

and arrangement; and for adequate public utilities and facilities.” 

   

STAFF ANALYSIS: Changing the zoning from one type of residential to another residential zone 

should still be consistent with the above stated goals.  

 

(3)   Compatibility of the proposal with the zoning, uses and character of the surrounding 

area. 

 

STAFF ANALYSIS: The requested use is a residential use; all surrounding properties are also zoned 

for residential. 

 North-zoned RE 

 East-zoned R3 

South-zoned R3 

West-zoned R3 

 

The surrounding uses appear to be all large lot residential. Many have large accessory buildings as 

well. 

 

      (4)   Suitability of the subject property for the uses to which it has been restricted without 

the proposed zoning map amendment. 

 

STAFF ANALYSIS: This property could, at some time in the future, develop to a density that R3 

zoning allows. There are adequate utilities and N. Pianalto Road is in fair shape. This property could 

be suitable for R3 zoning if all development standards were met. This is considered a down-zoning.  

 

      (5)   Extent to which approval of the proposed rezoning will detrimentally affect nearby 

property including, but not limited to, any impact on property value, traffic, drainage, 

visual impairment, odor, noise, light, vibration, hours of use/operation, and any 

restriction to the normal and customary use of the affected property. 

 

STAFF ANALYSIS: This proposed rezoning should not detrimentally affect nearby property. It will 

limit the property to a less dense development potential than currently exists with the current zoning.  

 

      (6)   Length of time the subject property has remained vacant as zoned, as well as its 

zoning at the time of purchase by the applicant; and 

 

STAFF ANALYSIS: This property was zoned R3 at the time the current owner purchased the 

property. To this point, it has not been developed to the higher density that is allowed.   



 

A -3 
 

      (7)   Impact of the proposed development on community facilities and services, including 

those related to utilities, streets drainage, parks, open space, fire, police, and 

emergency medical services. 

 

STAFF ANALYSIS: This impact will be a lesser impact to community facilities as they are requesting 

a down-zoning.  

 

 

TECHNICAL INFORMATION:  

Utilities: 

Water: Tontitown Water, existing 8” line-No concerns were submitted for the requested 

rezoning. 

 Electric: Ozarks Electric-No concerns were submitted for the requested rezoning. 

Sewer/Septic: Septic-If the owner would like to add an additional septic system to service 

the shop building, they must have approval from the Washington County Health Department.   

 Phone: AT&T-No concerns were submitted for the requested rezoning. 

 Natural Gas: Black Hills Energy-No concerns were submitted for the requested rezoning. 

 

 

Streets: 

This property access N. Pianalto Road.  

Fire: 

No concerns were submitted for the requested rezoning. 

Police: 

No concerns were submitted for the requested rezoning. 

STAFF ANALYSIS: As this is a requested down-zoning, the impact on N. Pianalto Road, on fire 

services, and on police response should be minimal. 

 

NEIGHBOR COMMENTS: All neighboring properties within 200 feet of the property boundary were 

notified by certified mail of this project. Staff has received one written and two calls with “in favor” 

comments, and one “opposed” comment from the surrounding property owners. The opposed 

comment is concerned about the size and use of the applicant’s proposed shop building.     

STAFF ANALYSIS: For the requested zoning, the use must be residential/agricultural in nature. No 

commercial use will be allowed under this zoning request.  

The shop building will not be limited in size if this rezoning request is approved; however, staff feels 

that due to the proposed location, and the size of the parcel, it is unlikely that the size of the shop will 

significantly impact the surrounding properties.  

 



 

A -4 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: As this property is adjacent to RE zoning, will not have a significant 

impact on infrastructure or surrounding uses, and meets the lot size requirements for the zoning 

requested, staff feels this project is compatible and suitable to the area.   

Therefore, staff recommends approval of the Gills Rezone Request to change the zoning of parcel 

830-37692-000 from R-3 zoning to R-E zoning. 

 

CONDITIONS RECOMMENDED FOR APPROVAL: 

1. The applicant must apply for all required building permits prior to construction. 

 

 

 







 

B -1 
 

 

AGENDA ITEM 

B 
PRELIMIANRY SUBDIVISION PLAT APPROVAL REQUEST 

Parcel #s: 830-37661-000, 830-37661-005, & 830-37661-003 

 

SUMMARY: Westbrook Subdivision Phase 2 is requesting Preliminary Subdivision approval for 113 
lots on 33.97 acres of land.  
CURRENT ZONING: R-3 -  Single-Family Residential - 9,600 square foot minimum lot size; provided 
density shall not exceed three units/net acres (i.e. after dedications are made). 

CITY WARD: 1- Gene McCartney & Henry Piazza 

FLOODPLAIN: No 
INFRASTRUCTURE SERVICE AREAS (not a guarantee of service availability):  
 Water: Tontitown Water, existing 2” line and existing 8” line proposed to be relocated 
 Electric: Ozarks Electric 
 Sewer/Septic: Tontitown Sewer 
 Phone: AT&T 
 Natural Gas: Black Hills Energy 

Cable: Cox Communications 
School District: Springdale 
 

PROJECT SYNOPSIS:    
Westbrook Subdivision Phase 2 is requesting Preliminary Subdivision approval for 113 lots on 33.97 
acres of land. The property is zoned R3, and all lots meet the minimum lot size of 9,600 sq. ft.  
 
This property is owned by Sprout Holdings, LLC., and located within the City Limits of Tontitown. 
 
This project has access along E. Fletcher Road, as well as several connections to stub outs from the 
neighboring Westbrook Phase 1. The site is currently undeveloped. 
 
 
TECHNICAL INFORMATION:  
Utilities: 

Water: Tontitown Water- According to the Water System information, there is an existing 2-
inch water line along E. Fletcher Road, an existing 6-inch line along S. Barrington, and an 
existing 8-inch extension line connected to Westbrook Subdivision. The existing 8-inch 
connection to Westbrook is proposed to be relocated.  
 
Additionally, the Tontitown Water Department requires that the developer extend the 
relocated 8-inch line west along E. Fletcher Road the length of the subject property. 
 

CITY OF TONTITOWN PLANNING OFFICE 

 201 E. Henri de Tonti Blvd. 
479-361-2700 
planning@tontitownar.gov 

Meeting: November 28, 2017 
Project: Westbrook SD Ph. 2 
Planner: Courtney McNair 



 

B -2 
 

Electric: Ozarks Electric-No comments were received from OECC, however, additional 
coordination with the utility to place necessary utility easements should happen prior to 
construction plan approval. 
 
Sewer/Septic: Sewer- this project proposes to connect to the City of Tontitown sewer 
system. The design has been submitted and reviewed by the City Engineer. Any additional 
corrections to the plan must be completed prior to construction plan approval.  
 
There is some concern about the sewer connection to Lots 112/113 that will be further 
discussed at Construction Plan review. 

 
Phone: AT&T- No comments were received from ATT, however, additional coordination with 
the utility to place necessary utility easements should happen prior to construction plan 
approval. 
 
Natural Gas: Black Hills Energy- No comments were received from BHE, however, additional 
coordination with the utility to place necessary utility easements should happen prior to 
construction plan approval. 
 
Cable: Cox Communications- No comments were received from Cox, however, additional 
coordination with the utility to place necessary utility easements should happen prior to 
construction plan approval. 

 
School District: Springdale school district was notified of this project, but submitted no comments. 
 
Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP): 
The applicant has provided a plan for the SWPPP. This has been reviewed by the City Engineer. If 
there are any remaining corrections, they must be complete prior to Construction Plan approval. 
 
Police: 
Tontitown Police Chief Joey McCormick had no concerns with the current plat proposal.  
 
Fire:  
According to the Water System information, there is an existing 2-inch water line along E. Fletcher 
Road, an existing 6-inch line along S. Barrington, and an existing 8-inch extension line connected 
to Westbrook Subdivision. The 8-inch line will be relocated to better serve the proposed lots. 
 
One additional fire hydrant is required along Frizzo Street. Please contact Brett Freeland for 
preferred placement. 
 
Drainage: 
The applicant submitted a drainage report for review. This has been reviewed by the City Engineer. 
All remaining comments must be addressed prior to Construction Plan approval. 
 
Roads: 
This project has road connections to existing stub outs on Gaiche and Frizzo, one connection along 
E. Fletcher (lots back up along E. Fletcher), Lot 112 has access along S. Barrington and stub out 
connection on Lazzari.  
 
 



 

B -3 
 

This proposal shows Lazzari extended to serve two lots. However, it does not have the proper turn 
around area that is required for a dead-end road exceeding 150 feet in length. The road must be 
reconfigured to meet code.  
 
In the first submittal, this project proposed modified curbs. In order to currently allow modified 
curbs, the developer must obtain permission from the City Engineer. This has not been an issue in 
the past, and staff prefers the modified curbs. They were removed from the second submittal, but it 
is recommended for the applicant to show the modified type curb and all details can be discussed 
at Construction Plan Review. 
 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  There are some details that remain to be addressed at the 
Construction Plan phase of plan review, but nothing that should significantly impact the overall 
design. 

Therefore, staff recommends approval of Westbrook Subdivision Phase 2 with conditions. 

 

CONDITIONS RECOMMENDED FOR APPROVAL: 
1. Waterline must be extended to west property line along E. Fletcher Road. 
2. Additional coordination with the utilities to discuss necessary utility easements must take 

place prior to Construction Plan approval. 
3. One additional fire hydrant is required along Frizzo Street. Please contact Brett Freeland 

for preferred placement. 
4. There is some concern about the sewer connection to Lots 112/113 that must be further 

discussed prior to Construction Plan approval. 
5. This proposal shows Lazzari extended to serve two lots. However, it does not have the 

proper turn around area that is required for a dead-end road exceeding 150 feet in length. 
The road must be reconfigured to meet code.  

6. It is recommended for the applicant to show the modified type curb and all details can be 
discussed prior to Construction Plan approval. 

7. Correct all remaining items on the “Plat Requirement Worksheet” prior to Construction Plan 
approval. Planning Staff will provide a copy of the remaining requirements to the engineer 
for the project. 

8. Correct any additional comments from the City Engineer prior to Construction Plan 
approval. 

9. The applicant must apply for all required permits prior to construction. 
 
 

 



CONSULTING ENGINEERS

SPRINGDALE, ARKANSAS

ENGINEERING SERVICES INC.

BY

PHONE: 479-751-8733

FAX: 479-751-8746

WWW.ENGINEERINGSERVICES.COM

S  T  A  T  E    O  F

No. 13828THOMAS  JASON  APPEL

CE
RT

I F

ICATE  OF  AUTHORI ZAT ION

ARKA NSA S    E NG I NEER

ENGINEERING

SERVICES, INC.

131

PROJECT
LOCATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
INDEX OF SHEETS

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHEET No.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESCRIPTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
PRELIMINARY PLAT

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
PRELIMINARY PLAT

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
,

AutoCAD SHX Text
.

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
!

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
U

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
K

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
1-800-482-8998

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
November 21, 2017

AutoCAD SHX Text
STORM WATER POLLUTION PREVENTION PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
TYPICAL DETAILS

AutoCAD SHX Text
STREET AND STORM DRAINAGE PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
4-6

AutoCAD SHX Text
7-9

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
TONTITOWN,  ARKANSAS

AutoCAD SHX Text
IN THE CITY OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
WESTBROOK SUBDIVISION PHASE 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALL WATER AND SEWER CONSTRUCTION MUST COMPLY WITH THE    SPECIFICATION REQUIREMENTS (ORDINANCE 2013-06-429, ADOPTED JUNE 4, 2013, REVISED APRIL 5, 2016) FOR THE CONSTRUCTION OF WATER    AND SEWER FACILITIES OF THE CITY OF TONTITOWN WATER UTILITIES.

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTES :     ALL STREET AND DRAINAGE CONSTRUCTION MUST COMPLY WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE CITY OF TONTITOWN, ARKANSAS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
STORM DRAINAGE PROFILES

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
ENGINEERING SERVICES, INC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
THOMAS J. APPEL, P.E. No. 13828

AutoCAD SHX Text
TO SERVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
STREET PROFILES

AutoCAD SHX Text
STREET CROSS SECTIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
20-21

AutoCAD SHX Text
11-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
UTILITY PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
22-24

AutoCAD SHX Text
CABLE COMPANY:   COX COMMUNICATION  COX COMMUNICATION  CONTACT: MICHAEL MOORE 4901 SOUTH 48TH STREET SPRINGDALE, AR 72762        PH: 479-717-3730 FAX: 479-872-0174        EMAIL: MICHAEL.MOORE3@COX.COM TELEPHONE COMPANY:   AT&T              AT&T           AT&T           CONTACT: JOHN HILL        PH. 479-442-1963 EMAIL: JH7313@ATT.COM  GAS COMPANY:    BLACK HILLS ENERGY        BLACK HILLS ENERGY              CONTACT: BRANDON STOKES CONTACT: BRANDON STOKES PH. 479-225-3726         ELECTRIC COMPANY:   OZARKS ELECTRIC          OZARKS ELECTRIC          CONTACT: MIKE PHIPPS PH. 479-521-2900         EMAIL: MPHIPPS@OZARKSECC.COM

AutoCAD SHX Text
WATER /SEWER DEPARTMENT: TONTITOWN WATER UTILITIES  TONTITOWN WATER UTILITIES  201 E HENRI DE TONTI BLVD TONTITOWN, AR 72770 PH.  479-361-2996 FAX: 501-421-8774 PLANNING DEPARTMENT:   PLANNING AND ZONING DEPARTMENT        PLANNING AND ZONING DEPARTMENT     PLANNING AND ZONING DEPARTMENT     235 E. HENRI DE TONTI TONTITOWN, AR 72770 PH. 479-361-9702 FAX 501-421-0012  BUILDING DEPARTMENT:  CITY OF TONTITOWN'S BUILDING DEPT.     CITY OF TONTITOWN'S BUILDING DEPT.           235 E. HENRI DE TONTI        235 E. HENRI DE TONTI        TONTITOWN, AR 72770 PH. 479-361-9702 FAX 501-421-0012

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
WATER & SEWER DETAILS

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%UVICINITY MAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
N.T.S.

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRID

AutoCAD SHX Text
JEROME

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAURA LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
CORTIANA

AutoCAD SHX Text
FANTINEL DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
W BANDINI

AutoCAD SHX Text
INDUSTRIAL CIR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SE 3RD ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
SBANOTTO AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SW 1ST ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEELYN JEAN LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
TONTI LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
E BANDINI AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
JEAN MARY AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
E HENRI DE TONTI BLVD

AutoCAD SHX Text
INDUSTRIAL DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
KEVIN LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALBANO DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
AGNES DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
LIBERTY AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLETCHER AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
S BARRINGTON RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
S MAESTRI RD   AR HWY 112

AutoCAD SHX Text
N BARRINGTON RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
N MAESTRI RD   AR HWY 112

AutoCAD SHX Text
PIAZZA RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
U.S. HWY 412

AutoCAD SHX Text
E HENRI DE TONTI BLVD

AutoCAD SHX Text
U.S. HWY 412

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
VIA DE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
PRELIMINARY PLAT NOTES

AutoCAD SHX Text
SANITARY SEWER PLAN & PROFILE

AutoCAD SHX Text
STORM WATER POLLUTION PREVENTION DETAILS

AutoCAD SHX Text
26

AutoCAD SHX Text
25

AutoCAD SHX Text
27-35



IPF 1

ESI C.P.

NORTHING =  676,199.90'

EASTING = 654,827.79'

IPF BLEW 1532

IPF 5/8 REBAR

IPF D. JORGENSON PLS 1118

IPF BLEW 1532

IPF D. JORGENSON PLS 1118

ESI C.P.

NORTHING =  676,663.57'

EASTING = 654,864.52'

IPF 5/8 REBAR

IPF 5/8 REBAR

IPF 5/8 REBAR

FOUND COTTON PICKER SPINDLE

EX SIGN

EX SIGN

EX SIGN

EX WATER VALVE

EX SIGN

EX SIGN

EX WATER VALVE

EX WATER VALVE

EX FIRE HYDRANT

N: 675562.07

EX WATER VALVE

IPF JENKINS PLS 688

ESI C.P.

NORTHING =  675,603.60'

EASTING = 654,689.36'

ESI C.P.

NORTHING =  676,524.53'

EASTING = 654,834.83'

ESI C.P.

NORTHING =  676,566.37'

EASTING = 653,665.82'

ESI C.P.

NORTHING =  676,588.95'

EASTING = 653,199.21'

EX SEWER MANHOLE

RIM EL = 1303.57

INV = 1291.62

EX WATER VALVE

EX WATER METER

EX SIGN

EX SEWER MANHOLE

RIM EL = 1306.68

INV = 1297.08

EX WATER VALVE

EX FIRE HYDRANT

N: 676703.35

E: 654645.05

EX POWER METER

EX CTV BOX

EX TELEPHONE

PEDESTAL

EX POWER METER

EX POWER METER

EX CTV BOX

EX CTV BOX

EX POWER

JUNCTION BOX

EX TELEPHONE

PEDESTAL

EX POWER METER

EX CTV BOX

EX POWER METER

EX POWER METER

EX POWER METER

EX IRRIGATION

CONTROL VALVE

EX CTV BOX

EX POWER METER

EX TELEPHONE

PEDESTAL

EX POWER METER

EX CTV BOX

EX CTV BOX

EX POWER

JUNCTION BOX

EX POWER METER

EX TELEPHONE

PEDESTAL

EX POWER METER

EX POWER

JUNCTION BOX

EX POWER METER

EX TELEPHONE

PEDESTAL

EX SEWER MANHOLE

RIM EL = 1305.10

INV = 1294.44

EX CTV BOX

EX POWER METER

EX CTV BOX

EX POWER METER

EX POWER

JUNCTION BOX

EX CTV BOX

EX CTV BOX

EX POWER METER

EX TELEPHONE

PEDESTAL

EX POWER METER

EX CTV BOX

EX POWER METER

EX WATER VALVE

EX WATER VALVE

EX WATER METER

EX TELEPHONE

PEDESTALEX GAS METER

EX POWER METER

EX CTV BOX

EX TELEPHONE

PEDESTAL

EX CTV BOX

EX POWER

JUNCTION BOX

EX CTV BOX

EX POWER

TRANSFORMER

EX WATER VALVE

EXISTING DROP INLET

RIM EL = 1304.53

INV = 1299.29

EXISTING DROP INLET

RIM EL = 1304.40

INV = 1298.76

RIM EL = 1304.98

INV = 1299.98

EXISTING 42" F.E.S.

INV = 1299.92

(TO BE REMOVED)

INV = 1296.33

2
 
-
 
E

X
 
3
0
"
 
A

R
C

H
 
C

M
P

EXISTING 42" CMP

(TO BE REMOVED)

EXISTING RIP-RAP

(TO BE REMOVED)

1
8
"
 
C

M
P

EXISTING RIP-RAP

(TO BE REMOVED)

1
8
"
 
C

M
P

1
8
"
 
C

M
P

EXISTING FL OUT

INV= 1305.13

EXISTING FL IN

INV= 1305.16

EXISTING FL OUT

INV= 1303.31

EXISTING FL IN

INV= 1304.74

EXISTING WATER

MAIN (TO BE

ABANDONED)

1
2

0
7

 S
O

U
T
H

 O
L
D

 M
IS

S
O

U
R

I 
R

D
.

S
P
R

IN
G

D
A
L
E
, 

A
R

K
A
N

S
A
S

 7
2

7
6

4
@

 C
O

PY
R

IG
H

T 2
0
1
5,

 E
N

G
IN

EE
R

IN
G

 S
ER

VI
C

ES
, 
IN

C
.

E
N

G
IN

E
E
R

IN
G

 S
E
R

V
IC

E
S

 I
N

C
.

1
0
-2

7
-1

7
, 
1
0
:0

8
 A

M

Z:
\S

U
B

D
\1

7
9
6
3
 - 

W
ES

TB
R

O
O

K 
S

U
B

D
\1

7
9
6
3
 - 

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

PL
AT

.d
wg

 

PROJECT
LOCATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
HR

AutoCAD SHX Text
HR

AutoCAD SHX Text
HR

AutoCAD SHX Text
HR

AutoCAD SHX Text
HR

AutoCAD SHX Text
HR

AutoCAD SHX Text
HR

AutoCAD SHX Text
HR

AutoCAD SHX Text
HR

AutoCAD SHX Text
HR

AutoCAD SHX Text
HR

AutoCAD SHX Text
HR

AutoCAD SHX Text
HR

AutoCAD SHX Text
HR

AutoCAD SHX Text
HR

AutoCAD SHX Text
HR

AutoCAD SHX Text
HR

AutoCAD SHX Text
HR

AutoCAD SHX Text
HR

AutoCAD SHX Text
HR

AutoCAD SHX Text
HR

AutoCAD SHX Text
HR

AutoCAD SHX Text
HR

AutoCAD SHX Text
HR

AutoCAD SHX Text
HR

AutoCAD SHX Text
HR

AutoCAD SHX Text
HR

AutoCAD SHX Text
HR

AutoCAD SHX Text
PENZO AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FRIZZO STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
C STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
GAICHE STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
FRIZZO STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
D STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
A STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
E STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
B STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL: 830-37611-002 MATHIAS SHOPPING CENTER INC P O BOX 6485 SPRINGDALE, AR 72766

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL: 830-37761-000 CEOLA TRUST MARK D & MARGIE L CEOLA 597 E FLETCHER AVE  SPRINGDALE, AR 72762-9504

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL: 830-37762-000 VERUCCHI, LEROY J LIVING TRUST; VERUCCHI, MARGARET A LIVING TR 727 CLINTON CIR SPRINGDALE, AR 72762

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL: 830-37661-006 SPRINGDALE SCHOOL DIST #50 PO BOX 8 SPRINGDALE, AR 72765-0008

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL: 830-38711-000 IEC HOLDINGS LLC  916 S BAYOU DR  MOUNTAIN VIEW, AR 72560

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL: 830-38712-000 GRANT FAMILY TRUST FRANK L  & MARY L GRANT  453 PENZO AVE.  SPRINGDALE, AR 72762

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL: 830-38713-000 IEC HOLDINGS LLC  916 S BAYOU DR  MOUNTAIN VIEW, AR 72560

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL: 830-37761-000 CEOLA TRUST MARK D & MARGIE L CEOLA 597 E FLETCHER AVE  SPRINGDALE, AR 72762-9504

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL: 830-38714-000 IEC HOLDINGS LLC  916 S BAYOU DR  MOUNTAIN VIEW, AR 72560

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL: 830-38715-000 WAGNER FAMILY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP  2087 S BARRINGTON RD SPRINGDALE, AR 72762

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL: 830-38716-000 GREEN, REBECCA S   PO BOX 484 TONTITOWN, AR 72770

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL: 830-38717-000 IEC HOLDINGS LLC   916 S BAYOU DR  MOUNTAIN VIEW, AR 72560

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL: 830-38718-000 IEC HOLDINGS LLC   916 S BAYOU DR  MOUNTAIN VIEW, AR 72560

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL: 830-38719-000 WYNN, JESSICA RENE   347 PENZO AVE SPRINGDALE, AR 72762

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL: 830-38720-000 MCGINNIS, MICHELLE A & JACOB C 333 PENZO AVE SPRINGDALE, AR 72762

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL: 830-38721-000 SEAWOOD, CHRISTOPHER J & MARANADA D 317 PENZO AVE SPRINGDALE, AR 72762

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL: 830-38722-000 FIELDS, JOSHUA & COURTNEY  287 PENZO AVE SPRINGDALE, AR 72762-2961

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL: 830-38723-000 FAUGHN, AMBER REVOCABLE TRUST 271 PENZO AVE SPRINGDALE, AR 72762

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL: 830-38724-000 HANDS AND FEET REAL ESTATE LLC 9537 LORI LN ROGERS, AR 72758

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL: 830-38725-000 HANDS AND FEET REAL ESTATE LLC 9537 LORI LN ROGERS, AR 72758

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL: 830-38726-000 LUEKEN, THOMAS; BRUSCATO, CARLEY 223 PENZO AVE SPRINGDALE, AR 72762

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL: 830-38727-000 CHRIST, LARRY W & JANET M  207 PENZO AVE  SPRINGDALE, AR 72762

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL: 830-38710-000 BABB, TINA M  483 PENZO AVE SPRINGDALE, AR 72762

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL: 830-38709-000 SPRING CREEK WESTBROOK HOLDINGS LLC 916 S BAYOU DR MOUNTAIN VIEW, AR 72560

AutoCAD SHX Text
5' SIDEWALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
5' SIDEWALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
5' SIDEWALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
5' SIDEWALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
5' SIDEWALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
5' SIDEWALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
5' SIDEWALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
5' SIDEWALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
5' SIDEWALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
5' SIDEWALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED SWALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1306.50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1307.25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1309.50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1305.75'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1305.25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1305.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1305.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1306.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1307.50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1308.50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1309.25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1309.75'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1309.75'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1308.75'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1308.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1311.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1309.50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1308.25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1306.75'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1306.50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1306.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1306.25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1308.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1308.75'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1309.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1309.50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1310.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1310.25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1310.75'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1310.25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1311.75'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1309.50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1308.25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1306.75'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1306.50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1306.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1306.25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1308.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1308.75'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1309.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1309.50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1310.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1310.25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1310.75'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1310.25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1310.75'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1309.75'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1309.50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1309.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1308.50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1308.25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1307.75'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1307.25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1307.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1307.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1307.25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1307.75'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1308.50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1309.25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1310.75'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1309.75'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1308.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1307.50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1308.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1308.50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1309.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1309.75'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1310.25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1310.50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1310.75'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1311.25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1311.50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1311.50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1311.25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1310.50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1309.50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1309.25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1308.50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1308.25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1307.75'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1307.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1306.50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1305.25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1304.75'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1305.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1306.25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1307.50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1308.75'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1309.50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1309.75'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1309.50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1308.75'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1307.75'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1307.50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1307.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1307.75'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1308.25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1309.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1309.75'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1310.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1310.50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1310.75'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1310.75'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1310.50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1310.25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1309.75'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1309.25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1309.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1308.50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1309.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1309.75

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED 8" AWWA C-900 WATER MAIN (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
1306

AutoCAD SHX Text
1305

AutoCAD SHX Text
1304

AutoCAD SHX Text
1304

AutoCAD SHX Text
1307

AutoCAD SHX Text
1308

AutoCAD SHX Text
1306

AutoCAD SHX Text
1308

AutoCAD SHX Text
1309

AutoCAD SHX Text
1307

AutoCAD SHX Text
1306

AutoCAD SHX Text
1305

AutoCAD SHX Text
1307

AutoCAD SHX Text
1308

AutoCAD SHX Text
1309

AutoCAD SHX Text
1310

AutoCAD SHX Text
1308

AutoCAD SHX Text
1307

AutoCAD SHX Text
1306

AutoCAD SHX Text
1306

AutoCAD SHX Text
1307

AutoCAD SHX Text
1308

AutoCAD SHX Text
1309

AutoCAD SHX Text
1309

AutoCAD SHX Text
1305

AutoCAD SHX Text
1309

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED 8" AWWA C-900 WATER MAIN (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED 8" SDR 26 SEWER MAIN (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED 8" SDR 26 SEWER MAIN (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED SEWER MANHOLE (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED SEWER MANHOLE (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED FIRE HYDRANT (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED FIRE HYDRANT (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
1308

AutoCAD SHX Text
1307

AutoCAD SHX Text
1308

AutoCAD SHX Text
1309

AutoCAD SHX Text
E FLETCHER ROAD - COLLECTOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
1307

AutoCAD SHX Text
1308

AutoCAD SHX Text
1309

AutoCAD SHX Text
1305

AutoCAD SHX Text
1308

AutoCAD SHX Text
1309

AutoCAD SHX Text
1309

AutoCAD SHX Text
1306

AutoCAD SHX Text
1305

AutoCAD SHX Text
1304

AutoCAD SHX Text
1303

AutoCAD SHX Text
1307

AutoCAD SHX Text
1308

AutoCAD SHX Text
1309

AutoCAD SHX Text
1308

AutoCAD SHX Text
1307

AutoCAD SHX Text
1306

AutoCAD SHX Text
1305

AutoCAD SHX Text
1304

AutoCAD SHX Text
1305

AutoCAD SHX Text
1306

AutoCAD SHX Text
1310

AutoCAD SHX Text
1311

AutoCAD SHX Text
1311

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED FIRE HYDRANT (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
1308

AutoCAD SHX Text
1308

AutoCAD SHX Text
1306

AutoCAD SHX Text
5' SIDEWALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
5' SIDEWALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
1303

AutoCAD SHX Text
1306

AutoCAD SHX Text
1308

AutoCAD SHX Text
1307

AutoCAD SHX Text
1307

AutoCAD SHX Text
1308

AutoCAD SHX Text
1309

AutoCAD SHX Text
1310

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING 8" WATER MAIN TO REMAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED FIRE HYDRANT (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPERTY LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EASEMENT LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. CONTOUR

AutoCAD SHX Text
IRON PIN SET

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. FENCE LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
IRON PIN FOUND

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. STORM DRAIN LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. 8" SEWER LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. FIRE HYDRANT

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. WATER LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. SEWER MANHOLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. POWER POLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEGEND

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. ROAD CENTERLINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
1300

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX RIGHT-OF-WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. OVERHEAD POWER AND CABLE LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. OVERHEAD POWER AND TEL. LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. GAS METER

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. LIGHT POLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. LIGHT POLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. FIRE HYDRANT ASSEMBLY

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. SEWER SERVICE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. DOUBLE WATER METER

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. MANHOLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. SEWER MAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. WATER MAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED CONTOUR

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. STORM STRUCTURE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. STORM PIPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
1300

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
1"= 60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
120'

AutoCAD SHX Text
60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRID

AutoCAD SHX Text
ONLY

AutoCAD SHX Text
REPRESENTATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAPHIC

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESCRIPTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
W.O. #:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN BY:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
ENGINEER:

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISION

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
Nov 22, 2017

AutoCAD SHX Text
TONTITOWN, ARKANSAS

AutoCAD SHX Text
WESTBROOK SUBDIVISON - PHASE 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
PRELIMINARY PLAT

AutoCAD SHX Text
1"=60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
JRC

AutoCAD SHX Text
TJA

AutoCAD SHX Text
17963

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLOOD ZONE NOTE: THIS PROPERTY IS NOT WITHIN THE 100 YEAR FLOOD ZONE AS SHOWN ON THE NATIONAL FLOOD INSURANCE PROGRAM RATE MAP OF WASHINGTON COUNTY AND INCORPORATED AREAS, PANEL 05143C0065 F, DATED MAY 16, 2008.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10'

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
R.O.W.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TYPICAL SETBACK DETAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTE:   1.)  DISTANCE SHOWN WILL YIELD TO DISTANCE SHOWN WILL YIELD TO UTILITY EASEMENTS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10'

AutoCAD SHX Text
REAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIDE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FRONT

AutoCAD SHX Text
7'*

AutoCAD SHX Text
25'*

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'*

AutoCAD SHX Text
*UNLESS A UTILITY

AutoCAD SHX Text
EASEMENT IS GREATER

AutoCAD SHX Text
BUILDING SETBACKS

AutoCAD SHX Text
25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
STREET  CENTERLINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
(1) CERTIFICATE OF PRELIMINARY SURVEY ACCURACY. CERTIFICATE OF PRELIMINARY SURVEY ACCURACY. I,                      , HEREBY CERTIFY THAT THIS                       , HEREBY CERTIFY THAT THIS  , HEREBY CERTIFY THAT THIS PLAT CORRECTLY REPRESENTS A BOUNDARY SURVEY MADE BY ME AND ALL MONUMENTS SHOWN HEREON ACTUALLY EXIST AND THEIR LOCATION, SIZE, TYPE AND MATERIAL ARE CORRECTLY SHOWN. DATE OF EXECUTION:                           REGISTERED LAND SURVEYOR STATE OF ARKANSAS REGISTRATION NO.                  

AutoCAD SHX Text
(2) CERTIFICATE OF PRELIMINARY ENGINEERING ACCURACY. CERTIFICATE OF PRELIMINARY ENGINEERING ACCURACY. EACH SET OF STREET AND DRAINAGE PLANS MUST BE SUBMITTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH APPLICABLE STATE STATUTES AND ANY PLANS AND SPECIFICATIONS REQUIRED. I,        , HEREBY CERTIFY  , HEREBY CERTIFY THAT THIS PLAN CORRECTLY REPRESENTS A PLAN MADE UNDER MY DIRECTION AND ENGINEERING REQUIREMENTS OF THE TONTITOWN SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS HAVE BEEN COMPLIED WITH. DATE OF EXECUTION:      REGISTERED ENGINEER STATE OF ARKANSAS REGISTRATION NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
(3) THIS PLAT HAS BEEN GIVEN PRELIMINARY PLAT THIS PLAT HAS BEEN GIVEN PRELIMINARY PLAT APPROVAL ONLY AND HAS NOT BEEN APPROVED FOR RECORDING PURPOSES AS A PUBLIC RECORD. THIS CERTIFICATE SHALL EXPIRE ON     (DATE).  (DATE). PURSUANT TO THE TONTITOWN SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS AND ALL OTHER CONDITIONS AND APPROVAL HAVING BEEN COMPLETED, THIS DOCUMENT IS HEREBY ACCEPTED. THIS CERTIFICATE IS HEREBY EXECUTED UNDER THE AUTHORITY OF THE SAID RULES AND REGULATIONS. DATE OF EXECUTION:       SIGNED:          TONTITOWN PLANNING COMMISSION CHAIRMAN SIGNED:          MAYOR, CITY OF TONTITOWN SIGNED:          RECORDER/TREASURER, CITY OF TONTITOWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER/DEVELOPER:     SPROUT HOLDINGS, LLC      SPROUT HOLDINGS, LLC PO BOX 10620  FAYETTEVILLE, AR 72703 

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONING:         		R-3         		R-3R-3

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO. OF LOTS:    		112    		112112

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED USE:    	RESIDENTIAL SUBDIVISION 		    	RESIDENTIAL SUBDIVISION 		RESIDENTIAL SUBDIVISION 		

AutoCAD SHX Text
ACREAGE:    			33.97 ACRES    			33.97 ACRES33.97 ACRES

AutoCAD SHX Text
SURVEYOR/ENGINEER:	ENGINEERING SERVICES, INC.                         ENGINEERING SERVICES, INC.                         1207 SOUTH OLD MISSOURI ROAD                       P.O. BOX 282                       SPRINGDALE, AR  72764                       PHONE (479) 751-8733                       FAX (479) 751-8746                       EMAIL: jappel@engineeringservices.com

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%UVICINITY MAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
N.T.S.

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRID

AutoCAD SHX Text
JEROME

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAURA LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
CORTIANA

AutoCAD SHX Text
FANTINEL DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
W BANDINI

AutoCAD SHX Text
INDUSTRIAL CIR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SE 3RD ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
SBANOTTO AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SW 1ST ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEELYN JEAN LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
TONTI LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
E BANDINI AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
JEAN MARY AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
E HENRI DE TONTI BLVD

AutoCAD SHX Text
INDUSTRIAL DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
KEVIN LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALBANO DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
AGNES DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
LIBERTY AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLETCHER AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
S MAESTRI RD   AR HWY 112

AutoCAD SHX Text
N BARRINGTON RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
N MAESTRI RD   AR HWY 112

AutoCAD SHX Text
PIAZZA RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
U.S. HWY 412

AutoCAD SHX Text
E HENRI DE TONTI BLVD

AutoCAD SHX Text
U.S. HWY 412

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
VIA DE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
S BARRINGTON RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
MATCHLINE SEE SHEET 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
REAR NEXT

AutoCAD SHX Text
25'*

AutoCAD SHX Text
TO STREET

planningclerk
Oval

planningclerk
Callout
Table and sketch do not match

planningclerk
Callout
113 Lots



IPF JENKINS PLS 688

EX WATER VALVE

IPF UNREADABLE CAP

ESI C.P.

NORTHING =  676,833.43'

EASTING = 652,772.78'

ESI C.P.

NORTHING =  676,588.95'

EASTING = 653,199.21'

EX POWER METER

EX POWER

JUNCTION BOX

F.F.E. 1,309.83'

EX CTV BOX

EX CTV BOX

EX TELEPHONE

PEDESTAL

F.F.E. 1,308.17'

EX CTV BOX

EX IRRIGATION

CONTROL VALVE

EX TELEPHONE

PEDESTAL

F.F.E. 1,308.04'

EX SEWER VALVE

EX SEWER MANHOLE

RIM EL = 1306.15

W INV = 1300.25

N INV = 1300.01

EX TELEPHONE

PEDESTAL

EX CTV BOX

EX POWER

JUNCTION BOX

1
2

0
7

 S
O

U
T
H

 O
L
D

 M
IS

S
O

U
R

I 
R

D
.

S
P
R

IN
G

D
A
L
E
, 

A
R

K
A
N

S
A
S

 7
2

7
6

4
@

 C
O

PY
R

IG
H

T 2
0
1
5,

 E
N

G
IN

EE
R

IN
G

 S
ER

VI
C

ES
, 
IN

C
.

E
N

G
IN

E
E
R

IN
G

 S
E
R

V
IC

E
S

 I
N

C
.

1
0
-2

7
-1

7
, 
1
0
:0

8
 A

M

Z:
\S

U
B

D
\1

7
9
6
3
 - 

W
ES

TB
R

O
O

K 
S

U
B

D
\1

7
9
6
3
 - 

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

PL
AT

.d
wg

PROJECT
LOCATION

PARCEL # 830-37661-003, 830-37661-005, & 830-37661-000

AutoCAD SHX Text
PENZO AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
GAICHE STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
FRIZZO STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
PENZO AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAZZARI STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
S BARRINGTON RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
C STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
GAICHE STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
FRIZZO STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
D STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
A STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
E STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
B STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
E FLETCHER ROAD - COLLECTOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
WESTBROOK PHASE 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
PENZO AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAZZARI STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
S BARRINGTON RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL: 830-37661-006 SPRINGDALE SCHOOL DIST #50 PO BOX 8 SPRINGDALE, AR 72765-0008

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL: 830-37661-006 SPRINGDALE SCHOOL DIST #50 PO BOX 8 SPRINGDALE, AR 72765-0008

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL: 830-38727-000 CHRIST, LARRY W & JANET M  207 PENZO AVE  SPRINGDALE, AR 72762

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL: 830-38728-000 HERNANDEZ, JOSE T & JESSICA J  193 PENZO AVE SPRINGDALE, AR 72762

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL: 830-38729-000 BURKS, AUSTIN; MCCLELLAND, MEGAN 177 PENZO AVE SPRINGDALE, AR 72762

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL: 830-38730-000 PENZO, BRENT T 165 PENZO AVE SPRINGDALE, AR 72762

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL: 830-38731-000 FORTENBERRY, LARRY & SHARRON PO BOX 275 CROSSVILLE, AL 35962

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL: 830-38732-000 FEARS, JASON C & SARAH E 135 PENZO AVE SPRINGDALE, AR 72762

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL: 830-38733-000 INGRAM, JONATHAN C & DANEYLLE M 389 LAZZARI ST SPRINGDALE, AR 72762-6327

AutoCAD SHX Text
1307

AutoCAD SHX Text
1306

AutoCAD SHX Text
5' SIDEWALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1307.50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FFE = 1307.50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
1"= 100'

AutoCAD SHX Text
200'

AutoCAD SHX Text
100'

AutoCAD SHX Text
50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRID

AutoCAD SHX Text
ONLY

AutoCAD SHX Text
REPRESENTATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAPHIC

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESCRIPTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
W.O. #:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN BY:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
ENGINEER:

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISION

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
Nov 22, 2017

AutoCAD SHX Text
TONTITOWN, ARKANSAS

AutoCAD SHX Text
WESTBROOK SUBDIVISON - PHASE 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
PRELIMINARY PLAT NOTES

AutoCAD SHX Text
1"=100'

AutoCAD SHX Text
JRC

AutoCAD SHX Text
TJA

AutoCAD SHX Text
17963

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTES :   1. STREET LIGHTS IN SUBDIVISION TO BE A MINIMUM OF 6800 STREET LIGHTS IN SUBDIVISION TO BE A MINIMUM OF 6800 LUMENS.  2. ALL LOT CORNER RADII ARE 30' UNLESS OTHERWISE ALL LOT CORNER RADII ARE 30' UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED. 3. ALL STREET RIGHTS-OF-WAY WITHIN SUBDIVISION ARE 50' ALL STREET RIGHTS-OF-WAY WITHIN SUBDIVISION ARE 50' IN  WIDTH. 4. ANY DAMAGE OR RELOCATION OF EXISTING UTILITIES ANY DAMAGE OR RELOCATION OF EXISTING UTILITIES SHALL BE AT THE DEVELOPER'S EXPENSE. 5. STREET NAMES MUST BE APPROVED BY THE CITY OF STREET NAMES MUST BE APPROVED BY THE CITY OF TONTITOWN 911 ADDRESS COORDINATOR 6. ALL CONDUITS PLACED BY DEVELOPER MUST HAVE 48 ALL CONDUITS PLACED BY DEVELOPER MUST HAVE 48 INCH COVER AT FINAL GRADE. (6-4" CONDUITS FOR ROAD CROSSINGS, ETC.) 7. THERE ARE NO KNOWN WETLANDS ON THIS PROPERTY THERE ARE NO KNOWN WETLANDS ON THIS PROPERTY 8. NO KNOWN EROSION PROBLEMS EXIST ON THIS SITE NO KNOWN EROSION PROBLEMS EXIST ON THIS SITE 9. ALL STORM DRAIN UNDER STREET SHALL BE R.C.P. ALL ALL STORM DRAIN UNDER STREET SHALL BE R.C.P. ALL STORM DRAIN OUTSIDE OF STREET SHALL BE H.D.P.E.  10. LOT NUMBERS 10-27 SHALL NOT HAVE ACCESS OFF OF LOT NUMBERS 10-27 SHALL NOT HAVE ACCESS OFF OF FLETCHER. 11. LOTS 112 & 113 SHALL NOT HAVE ACCESS OFF OF LOTS 112 & 113 SHALL NOT HAVE ACCESS OFF OF BARRINGTON.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLOOD ZONE NOTE: THIS PROPERTY IS NOT WITHIN THE 100 YEAR FLOOD ZONE AS SHOWN ON THE NATIONAL FLOOD INSURANCE PROGRAM RATE MAP OF WASHINGTON COUNTY AND INCORPORATED AREAS, PANEL 05143C0065 F, DATED MAY 16, 2008.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10'

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
R.O.W.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TYPICAL SETBACK DETAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTE:   1.)  DISTANCE SHOWN WILL YIELD TO DISTANCE SHOWN WILL YIELD TO UTILITY EASEMENTS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10'

AutoCAD SHX Text
25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
STREET  CENTERLINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%UVICINITY MAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
N.T.S.

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRID

AutoCAD SHX Text
JEROME

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAURA LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
CORTIANA

AutoCAD SHX Text
FANTINEL DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
W BANDINI

AutoCAD SHX Text
INDUSTRIAL CIR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SE 3RD ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
SBANOTTO AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SW 1ST ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEELYN JEAN LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
TONTI LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
E BANDINI AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
JEAN MARY AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
E HENRI DE TONTI BLVD

AutoCAD SHX Text
INDUSTRIAL DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
KEVIN LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALBANO DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
AGNES DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
LIBERTY AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLETCHER AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
S BARRINGTON RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
S MAESTRI RD   AR HWY 112

AutoCAD SHX Text
N BARRINGTON RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
N MAESTRI RD   AR HWY 112

AutoCAD SHX Text
PIAZZA RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
U.S. HWY 412

AutoCAD SHX Text
E HENRI DE TONTI BLVD

AutoCAD SHX Text
U.S. HWY 412

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
VIA DE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SURVEY DESCRIPTION FROM WARRANTY DEED FILE # 2014-00008981 A PART OF THE S1/2 OF THE SE1/4 AND A PART OF THE SE1/4 OF THE SW1/4 ALL IN SECTION 1, TOWNSHIP 17 NORTH, RANGE 31 WEST AND BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: BEGINNING AT A 1/2" REBAR THAT IS N01°59'02"W 30.00FEET FROM THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF THE S1/2 OF THE SE1/4 OF SAID SECTION 1, SAID POINT LOCATED ON THE NORTH RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF FLETCHER AVENUE AND RUNNING THENCE N88°42'55"W 1611.13 FEET ALONG SAID RIGHT OF WAY TO A 1/2"REBAR; THENCE LEAVING SAID RIGHT OF WAY N01°59'02"E 890.05 FEET TO A 1/2"REBAR; THENCE N88°42'55"W 756.37 FEET TO A 1/2" REBAR LOCATED ON THE EASTRIGHT OF WAY LINE OF BARRINGTON ROAD, THENCE N31°18'53"E 182.73 FEET TO A1/2" REBAR AND NORTHWESTERLY ALONG A CURVE TO THE LEFT 19.81 FEET TO A 1/2" REBAR, SAID CURVE HAVING A RADIUS OF 685.00 FEET AND A CHORD BEARING OF N30°29'11"E 19.80 FEET ALONG SAID RIGHT OF WAY; THENCE LEAVING SAID RIGHTOF WAY S59° 57'23"E 118.46 FEET TO A 1/2" REBAR; THENCE S23°26'18"E 62.21 FEETTO A 1/2" REBAR; THENCE S59°57'23"E 66.48 FEET TO A 1/2" REBAR; THENCES88°42'55"E 1908.60 FEET TO A 1/2" REBAR;THENCE S78°59'53"E 50.63 FEET TO A1/2" REBAR; THENCE S88°00'58"E 120.00 FEET TO A 1/2" REBAR; THENCES01°59'02"W 910.04 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, CONTAINING 34.99 ACRES,MORE OR LESS, CITY OF TONTITOWN, WASHINGTON COUNTY, ARKANSAS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER/DEVELOPER:     SPROUT HOLDINGS, LLC      SPROUT HOLDINGS, LLC PO BOX 10620  FAYETTEVILLE, AR 72703 

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONING:         		R-3         		R-3R-3

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO. OF LOTS:    		112    		112112

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED USE:    	RESIDENTIAL SUBDIVISION 		    	RESIDENTIAL SUBDIVISION 		RESIDENTIAL SUBDIVISION 		

AutoCAD SHX Text
ACREAGE:    			34.99 ACRES    			34.99 ACRES34.99 ACRES

AutoCAD SHX Text
CaC2

AutoCAD SHX Text
CaB

AutoCAD SHX Text
CaB  = Captina silt loam, 1 to 3 percent slopes

AutoCAD SHX Text
CaC2  = Captina silt loams, 3 to 6 percent slopes, eroded

AutoCAD SHX Text
= 31.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
= 2.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
ACRES IN AOI

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEGEND

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOIL SURVEY MAP U.S. DEPT. OF AGRICULTURE LIBERTY SUBDIVISION PH II TONTITOWN, ARKANSAS

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPERTY LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRID

AutoCAD SHX Text
SURVEYOR/ENGINEER:	ENGINEERING SERVICES, INC.                         ENGINEERING SERVICES, INC.                         1207 SOUTH OLD MISSOURI ROAD                       P.O. BOX 282                       SPRINGDALE, AR  72764                       PHONE (479) 751-8733                       FAX (479) 751-8746                       EMAIL: jappel@engineeringservices.com

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
OR

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLATTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
12"

AutoCAD SHX Text
2.0%%%

AutoCAD SHX Text
36' COLLECTOR STREET SECTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
VARIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
SLOPE = 2.0%%%

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING 

AutoCAD SHX Text
STANDARD CONCRETE CURB AND GUTTER (SEE DETAIL)

AutoCAD SHX Text
5'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIDEWALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
8" CLASS 7 BASE  - COMPACTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
 TO 98% OF MODIFIED PROCTOR VALUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTE: ALL STREETS AND SIDEWALKS SHALL BE DESIGNED AND CONSTRUCTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH CODE SECTION 90 - STREETS AND SIDEWALKS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP OF CURB =

AutoCAD SHX Text
 TOP FINISH @

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
OR

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLATTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
12"

AutoCAD SHX Text
2.0%%%

AutoCAD SHX Text
TYPICAL 30' STREET SECTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
15'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
SLOPE = 3.0%%%

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
GROUND LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
1'

AutoCAD SHX Text
2.0%%%

AutoCAD SHX Text
10'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
OR

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLATTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
10'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
C +0.04'

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRADE AS SHOWN ON PROFILE- TOP FINISH @ C

AutoCAD SHX Text
3" ASPHALTIC SURFACE COURSE

AutoCAD SHX Text
STANDARD CONCRETE CURB AND GUTTER (SEE DETAIL)

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
50' R.O.W.

AutoCAD SHX Text
5'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIDEWALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
5'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIDEWALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
8" CLASS 7 BASE  - COMPACTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
 TO 98% OF MODIFIED PROCTOR VALUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
3"

AutoCAD SHX Text
SUBGRADE (CBR = 8" MIN) SCARIFY A 

AutoCAD SHX Text
MIN. OF 8"& RECOMPACT TO A MIN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF 95%%% STANDARD PROCTOR DENSITY

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTE: ALL STREETS AND SIDEWALKS SHALL BE DESIGNED AND CONSTRUCTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH CODE SECTION 90 - STREETS AND SIDEWALKS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
60' R.O.W.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MATCHLINE SEE SHEET 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLECTCHER

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
10'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
1"= 60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
120'

AutoCAD SHX Text
60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRID

AutoCAD SHX Text
ONLY

AutoCAD SHX Text
REPRESENTATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAPHIC



 

C -1 
 

 

AGENDA ITEM 

C 
UPDATES TO CODE OF ORDINANCES 

Chapter 150, 152, & 153 

 

SUMMARY: Ordinance Updates to Chapter 150-Building Regulations, Chapter 152-
Development and Subdivision Regulations, and Chapter 153-Zoning Regulations 
 
The majority of these changes are for clarification, or to add information that was erroneously left out 
at the last code update. 
 

CHAPTER 150- BUILDING REGULATIONS 
 

• Update 150.005 
STAFF ANALYSIS- The Board has determined that no Accessory Dwelling Units shall be 
allowed in Tontitown. 

 
CURRENT CODE SHOWING ADJUSTMENTS   

§ 150.005  PROCEDURES FOR CONSTRUCTION OF DWELLINGS. 
 
 (E)   All dwellings, buildings and other structures constructed in the City of Tontitown, Arkansas, shall 
be constructed at a distance no less than 25 30 feet from the owner’s front property line or 40 feet 
from the center of any road in the front of the property, whichever is the greater distance. 
      (1)   Minimum requirements for dwellings. 
         (a)   In no case shall a primary dwelling consist of less than 1,000 heated square feet of floor 
area. 
         (b)   Accessory dwelling shall in no case consist of less than 576 heated square feet of floor 
area.  Accessory dwellings are not allowed. 
         (c)   All dwellings, primary or accessory, shall be constructed on a permanent foundation. 
         (d)   All plumbing fixtures shall be connected to a sanitary sewer or to an approved private 
sewage disposal system. 
 
CODE AS WILL READ  

 § 150.005  PROCEDURES FOR CONSTRUCTION OF DWELLINGS. 
 
 (E)   All dwellings, buildings and other structures constructed in the City of Tontitown, Arkansas, shall 
be constructed at a distance no less than 30 feet from the owner’s front property line or 40 feet from 
the center of any road in the front of the property, whichever is the greater distance. 
      (1)   Minimum requirements for dwellings. 
         (a)   In no case shall a primary dwelling consist of less than 1,000 heated square feet of floor 
area. 
         (b)   Accessory dwellings are not allowed. 
         (c)   All dwellings, shall be constructed on a permanent foundation. 
         (d)   All plumbing fixtures shall be connected to a sanitary sewer or to an approved private 
sewage disposal system. 

CITY OF TONTITOWN PLANNING OFFICE 

 201 E. Henri de Tonti Blvd. 
479-361-2700 
planning@tontitownar.gov 

Meeting: November 28, 2017 
Project: Chapter 150, 152, 153 
Planner: Courtney McNair 

javascript:void(0)
javascript:void(0)


 

C -2 
 

CHAPTER 152- DEVELOPMENT AND SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS 
 

• Update 152.015 
STAFF ANALYSIS- These changes are for clarification and corrections.  

 
CURRENT CODE SHOWING ADJUSTMENTS   

§ 152.015  DEFINITIONS. 
   Definitions not expressly prescribed herein are to be construed in accordance with the customary 
usage in municipal planning and engineering practices. Whenever used in this regulation, the word 
“may” is permissive, while the word “shall” is to be interpreted in its mandatory sense. For the 
purpose of interpreting this regulation, certain words used herein are defined as follows: 
   AASHTO. American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials. 
   ABUTTING. Having property or district lines in common. Since zoning district lines fall to the 
centerline of a street, alley, or waterway, lots that appear physically separated abut at said district 
line. 
   ACCESS. The way or means by which a piece of property is approached or entered. 
   ACCESS EASEMENT. An easement granted by an owner of land to provide access to a lot or 
parcel not fronting a street or roadway. 
   ADA. Americans with Disabilities Act. 
   AGENT (OF CITY). Person with delegated authority for a specific purpose. 
   AHTD. Arkansas State Highway and Transportation Department.  ARDOT. Arkansas Department 
of Transportation. 
   ALLEY. A minor public right-of-way used for utility installations and vehicular access to the back or 
the side of properties abutting a street. 
   APPROVAL, CONDITIONAL. Approval of a plan, plat, or activity by the Commission subject to 
performance by the applicant of certain stipulated conditions. 
   BILL OF ASSURANCE. A private agreement attached to a plat which establishes property use and 
development rules specific to the properties in the particular subdivision and which may be binding 
upon subsequent owners of the property. 
   BLOCK. A parcel of land, intended to be used for urban purposes, which is entirely surrounded by 
public streets, highways, railroad rights-of-way, public walks, parks, drainage channels, or a 
combination thereof. 
   BOARD OF ZONING ADJUSTMENT. The Board of Zoning Adjustment considers requests for relief 
(variances) from certain zoning ordinance provisions, and rules on matters of interpretation 
associated with the zoning ordinance. 
   BOND. Any form of security including a cash deposit, surety bond or instrument of credit in an 
amount and form satisfactory to the city. 
   BUFFER. A strip of land established to protect one type of land use from another. A buffer strip is 
landscaped and kept in open space. 
   BUFFER, PERIMETER LANDSCAPING. A continuous area of land set aside along the perimeter 
of a lot in which landscaping is used to provide a transition between, and reduce the environmental, 
aesthetic, and other impacts of one type of land use upon another. 
   BUILDING CODE. Regulations established by local governments describing the minimum 
requirements for buildings; includes foundation, roofing, plumbing, electrical, and other specifications 
for safety and sanitation. 
   BUILDING LINE. A line parallel to a lot line establishing an area between it and the lot line where 
no portion of the building may be erected. 
   BUILDING SETBACKS. See SETBACKS. 
   CERTIFICATE OF COMPLETION OF IMPROVEMENTS. A statement by a developer’s engineer of 
record certifying that all improvements and installations are complete and built in conformance with 
the city’s specifications and this subdivision regulation. 
   CIRCUIT CLERK. The Washington County Circuit Clerk. 
   CITY. The City of Tontitown, Arkansas. 
   CITY LIMITS. The limits of the land area occupied by, and under jurisdiction of the City of 
Tontitown. 
   CITY STAFF. Employees and designees of the City of Tontitown. 
   COMMENCEMENT OF CONSTRUCTION. Any clearing of the land, excavation, construction, or 

javascript:void(0)


 

C -3 
 

other substantial action that would adversely affect the natural environment of the site. 
   COMMISSION. The Planning Commission of the City of Tontitown, Arkansas. 
   COMPLETION DATE OF PROJECT. A date established by agreement between the planning 
commission and applicant as reached at time of preliminary plat approval. 
      COMPREHENSIVE PLAN. A composite of the mapped and written proposals, as adopted by the 
Planning Commission and City Council, whether in whole or in part, recommending the physical 
development of the community. Said plan includes, but not limited to, the planning area map, Land 
Use Plan, Master Street Plan and Master Street Plan Map for the city., as posted to the Tontitown 
GIS system. 
   COUNCIL. The City Council of the City of Tontitown, Arkansas. 
   COUNTY. Washington County, Arkansas. 
   COVENANT. A provision in a deed limiting the use of the property and prohibiting certain uses. 
   CUL-DE-SAC. A street with only one outlet and being permanently terminated within the plat by a 
vehicular turnaround. 
   DBH. Diameter at breast height. 
   DEAD END STREET. A street having one end open to traffic and being permanently or temporarily 
terminated at the opposite end. 
   DEDICATION. Land and improvements offered to the city and accepted by the city for public use, 
control and maintenance. DEDICATIONS may include streets, alleys, rights-of-way, utility easements, 
drainage easements, or other easement as appropriate. 
   DEED. A legal document conveying ownership of real property. 
   DESIGN SPEED. The maximum safe speed that can be maintained over a specified section of 
roadway when conditions are so favorable that the design features of the roadway govern. 
   DETENTION POND. A stormwater management facility designed to protect against flooding and, in 
some cases, downstream erosion by storing stormwater runoff for a limited period of time. Water 
stored by a detention pond is subsequently released at a controlled rate equal to or less than the pre-
development runoff rate that the facility is designed to maintain. A DETENTION POND is intended to 
be dry except during and after stormwater producing events. 
   DEVELOPER. That person, firm or corporation undertaking to develop a subdivision or any other 
type of land development as defined in these subdivision regulations. 
   DEVELOPMENT. Any man-made change in improved and unimproved real estate, including but 
not limited to buildings or other structures, mining, dredging, filling, grading, paving, excavation or 
drilling operations or storage of equipment or materials. 
   DEVELOPMENT PLAN. A drawing showing all proposed improvements to a piece of property 
including streets, parking lots, buildings, drives, signs, utilities, drainage, and grading by size and 
location. 
   DRAINAGE EASEMENT. An easement providing for the flow and removal of surface water across 
a property. 
   DRIVEWAY. An entrance to one or more properties created by the owner(s) thereof for the 
exclusive use and enjoyment of such properties and under the total control of such owner(s). 
   EASEMENT. A grant by a property owner or trustee for the use by the public, a corporation, or 
certain persons of a strip described area of land for specific purposes. 
   EGRESS. A means of exit from a property to a public street. 
   ENGINEER. A registered professional engineer in good standing, and licensed to practice in the 
State of Arkansas. 
   FEDERAL EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT AGENCY (FEMA). The federal agency that, in addition 
to carrying out other activities, oversees the administration of the National Flood Insurance Program. 
   FINAL PLAT APPROVAL. Approval of a plat that is in conformance with the preliminary plat along 
with all required financial guarantees. 
   FIRE APPARATUS ROAD. A roadway provided for use by emergency and fire vehicles to access a 
subdivision from a main artery. Full specifications are provided in the Arkansas Fire Prevention Code. 
   FIRE CHIEF. The appointed official of the City of Tontitown responsible for all functions of the 
Tontitown Fire Department. 
   FIRE MARSHAL. The Tontitown Fire Chief or his or her designee, responsible for enforcement of 
the adopted Fire Prevention Code. 
   FIRM. Flood Insurance Rate Map. 
   FLOODPLAIN. A geographic area susceptible to periodic inundation from overflow of natural 
waterways and determined as to extent by the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). 



 

C -4 
 

   FLOODWAY. The channel of a river or other watercourse and the adjacent land areas that must be 
reserved in order to discharge the base flood without cumulatively increasing the water surface 
elevation more than a designated height. Communities must regulate development in these 
floodways to ensure that there are no increases in upstream flood elevations. For streams and other 
watercourses where FEMA has provided Base Flood Elevations (BFEs), but no floodway has been 
designated, the community must review floodplain development on a case-by-case basis to ensure 
that increases in water surface elevations do not occur, or identify the need to adopt a floodway if 
adequate information is available. 
   FRONTAGE ROAD. A street, parallel to and adjacent to a major highway or thoroughfare, which 
provides access to abutting properties. 
   FUNCTIONAL CLASSIFICATION SYSTEM. The process by which streets and highways are 
grouped into classes, or systems, according to the character of service they are intended to provide. 
   HEALTH DEPARTMENT. The Washington County Health Department and/or Arkansas State 
Health Department. 
   HIGHWAY DEPARTMENT, STATE. The Arkansas State Highway and Transportation Department. 
Arkansas Department of Transportation. 
   HORIZONTAL DATUM. At its most basic level of definition, the HORIZONTAL DATUM is a 
collection of specific points on the earth that have been identified according to their precise northerly 
or southerly location (latitude) and easterly or westerly location (longitude) (National Geodetic Survey, 
1986). 
   HORIZONTAL PROPERTY REGIME. Creation of a condominium project in which co-owners own 
free interests in units together with fractional interests in general common elements which determines 
the use to be made of improved land whether or not such improvement is composed of one or more 
separate buildings of one or more floors or stories. 
   HOUSING CODE. Part of the technical codes adopted by the City of Tontitown. 
   IMPROVEMENT. Any betterment of existing conditions of land such as, but not limited to, streets, 
curbs, gutters, sidewalks, trails, pavement, pedestrian ways, water mains, sanitary sewers, storm 
sewers, stormwater detention or retention facilities, signs, monuments, landscaping, streetlights, fire 
hydrants, or other actions resulting in permanent changes in the condition of the land. 
   IMPROVEMENT PLANS. The engineering drawings showing types of materials and construction 
details for the physical structures and facilities, excluding dwelling units to be installed in conjunction 
with the development of the subdivision. 
   INCIDENTAL SUBDIVISION. The subdivision of land that does not require an applicant to go 
through the complete preliminary and final plat process. INCIDENTAL SUBDIVISIONS include lot 
splits, informal plats, property line adjustments and correction plats. 
   INGRESS. A means of entrance to a property from a city street. 
   INTERNATIONAL FIRE CODE. This title is used synonymously with the ARKANSAS FIRE 
PREVENTION CODE. 
   IRREVOCABLE LETTER OF CREDIT. A legal financial instrument in the form approved by the City 
of Tontitown. The instrument gives the right to a dollar amount to the city to guarantee construction or 
maintenance of improvements in a subdivision. 
   LAND SURVEYOR. An individual licensed to practice land surveying in the State of Arkansas. 
   LAND USE PLAN. A written plan with goals and objectives along with a map depicting and 
describing present land uses and future land uses expected in the city. This plan is approved by the 
City Council. 
   LARGE SCALE DEVELOPMENT. The development of a parcel or a lot within a platted subdivision. 
The term DEVELOPMENT shall include, but not be limited to, the construction of a new improvement, 
the construction of an addition to an existing improvement, or a revision of land use that results in the 
need for access and utilities. 
   (LID) LOW IMPACT DRAINAGE DESIGN. A method of designing drainage systems or facilities to 
allow runoff to penetrate the ground in-place instead of concentrating runoff in structures or facilities. 
   LOT. A parcel of land, legally defined in a recorded deed or a recorded plat, fronting on a public 
street, or other approved means of access. The LOT shall not be divided by any public highway or 
alley, including any part thereof subject to any easement for any purpose other than a public highway 
or alley, but excluding any part thereof severed from another lot where the severance creates any 
nonconformity of use or structure. The LOT shall establish one building site and comply with all 
subdivision rules and regulations of the city. 
   LOT, DOUBLE FRONTAGE. A lot that runs through a block from street to street and having 



 

C -5 
 

frontage on two non-intersecting streets. 
   LOT, REVERSE FRONTAGE. A double frontage lot that is designed to be developed with the rear 
yard abutting a major street and with the primary means of ingress and egress provided on a minor 
street. 
   LOT SPLIT. A subdivision which involves the dividing or redesigning of an existing lot or lots within 
a block of a recorded subdivision and which does not involve the vacating, widening, narrowing or 
change of alignment of any thoroughfare, street, alley or easement, or involve improvements required 
by these regulations. 
   LUMEN. A unit of measure of the intensity of light produce by a lamp (bulb) as indicated by the 
manufacturer. 
   MASTER STREET PLAN. The plan made and adopted by the Planning Commission and accepted 
by the City Council classifying certain streets within the planning area as arterial or collector streets. 
   NWARPC. The Northwest Arkansas Regional Planning Commission. 
   OUTDOOR LIGHT FIXTURES, (OUTDOOR LIGHTING). An outdoor illuminating device, outdoor 
lighting or reflective surface, lamp or similar device, permanently installed or portable, used for 
illumination, decoration, or advertisement. Such devices shall include, but are not limited to lights 
used for buildings and structures; recreational areas; parking lot lighting; landscape lighting; 
architectural lighting; product display area lighting; building overhangs; open canopies; and security 
lighting. 
   ONE HUNDRED-YEAR (100-YEAR) FLOOD. A flood with 1% chance of occurring in any year. The 
term is misleading because of its statistical derivation. A 100- YEAR FLOOD may occur many times 
in any given 100-year period, or it may not occur at all in 100-years. 
   OUT LOTS. Parcels or tracts of land proposed as part of a large scale development for future use 
or development, or as part of a subdivision as non-conforming lots dedicated for stormwater 
detention, public uses, or use by a property owners association but not available for building 
purposes. 
   PARCEL. A division of land in contiguous ownership. 
   PAVED WIDTH. The portion of a street available for vehicular traffic; where curbs are laid, it is the 
distance from back of curb to back of curb. 
   PAVING. A substance which is concrete, asphalt, asphaltic seal coat over rock base, or any other 
approved quality paving material. 
   PEDESTRIAN ACCOMMODATION. To provide continuous pedestrian travel, segregated from 
vehicular traffic, within the subdivision and the subdivision boundary. 
   PERFORMANCE BOND or GUARANTEE. Any security which may be accepted in lieu of a 
requirement that certain improvements be made before the planning commission approves a final 
plat, including performance bonds by subdividers or improvement contractors, escrow agreements, 
letters of credit, and other similar collateral or surety agreements. 
   PLANNING AREA, MAP or BOUNDARY. The area within the city’s territorial jurisdiction for which 
the Planning Commission has determined it will prepare plans and recommend ordinances and 
regulations; same being the TONTITOWN PLANNING AREA. The PLANNING AREA shall be the 
area in which provisions of Tontitown’s subdivision regulations shall apply. 
   PLANNING COMMISSION. The Planning Commission of the City of Tontitown. 
   PLANNING OFFICIAL. The staff person having overall responsibility for administering these 
regulations. 
   PLAT. A map or chart indicating the subdivision or re-subdivision of land, intended to be filed for 
record. 
   PLAT, CORRECTION. A correction to an existing plat that is necessary due to an incorrect legal 
description or scribner errors. 
   PLAT, FINAL. A finished drawing showing completely and accurately all legal and engineering 
information and certifications necessary for recording, and includes the bill of assurance, if applicable. 
   PLAT, PRELIMINARY. A drawing which shows the proposed layout of a subdivision in sufficient 
detail to indicate unquestionably its workability in all aspect, but is not in final form for recording and 
the details are not completely computed. 
   PLAT, SKETCH. An informal plan of the proposed subdivision to be submitted by the developer 
during the pre-application process, the purpose being to acquaint the developer with city plans and 
policies relevant to the proposed subdivision. 
   PRE-APPLICATION CONFERENCE. A meeting between planning officials and a developer to give 
the developer an opportunity to obtain advice concerning a proposed development or subdivision to 



 

C -6 
 

avoid unnecessary costs or delays, and to obtain informal guidance to prevent conflicts. This 
conference takes place before submission of the formal application for approval of a plan or a 
preliminary plat. 
   PRIVATE STREET. A street or roadway that is privately owned and maintained, and has not sought 
public funding in the past for the maintenance of said road. PRIVATE ROADSwill not prohibit access 
by any police, emergency, utility, or other service vehicles. 
   PROPERTY LINE ADJUSTMENT. A transfer or adjustment of a property line that does not create a 
separate, new lot. A PROPERTY LINE ADJUSTMENT may or may not dedicate right-of-way or utility 
easements. 
   PROTECTIVE COVENANTS. Property restrictions established by the subdivider and recorded with 
the final plat of the subdivision. 
   PUBLIC UTILITY. A public or private business organization, subject to governmental regulation, 
that provides an essential commodity or service, such as water, sewer, natural gas, electricity, 
transportation, or communication, to the public. 
   QUORUM COURT. The Washington County Quorum Court (13 15 Justices of Peace elected by 
district). 
   REPLAT. The act of platting the lots, parcels, and easements in a recorded subdivision or partition 
plat to achieve a reconfiguration of the existing subdivision or partition plat, or to increase or decrease 
the number of lots in the subdivision. 
   RE-SUBDIVISION. The changing of any existing lot or lots of any subdivision plat previously 
recorded with the County Circuit Clerk. RE-SUBDIVISION includes new townhouse or condominium 
projects, and the conversion of rental townhouses or condominiums into private ownership. RE-
SUBDIVISION also includes lots, parcels, units and real property converted to time-share units or 
estates. 
   RETENTION POND. A stormwater management facility designed to protect against flooding and, in 
some cases, downstream erosion by storing additional water in the form of stormwater runoff for a 
limited period of time. 
      (1)   Additional water stored by a detention pond is subsequently released at a controlled rate 
equal to or less than the pre-development runoff rate that the facility is designed to maintain. 
      (2)   A RETENTION POND is designed to retain water at all times and is sometimes referred to as 
a WET DETENTION POND. 
   RIGHT-OF-WAY. The usage of the term RIGHT-OF-WAY for land platting purposes shall mean 
that every right-of-way hereafter established and shown on a final plat. Every RIGHT-OF-WAY is to 
be separate and distinct from the lots or parcels adjoining such right-of-way and not included within 
the dimensions or areas of such lots. RIGHTS-OF-WAYintended for streets, trails, water mains, 
sanitary sewers, storm drains, or any other use involving maintenance by a public agency or utility 
company, shall be dedicated to public use by the maker of the plat on which such right-of-way is 
established. 
   SETBACKS, BUILDING. Lines imposed on each lot or parcel where the placement of structures is 
restricted. 
   SKETCH PLANS. See PLATS, SKETCH. 
   STAFF. Employees and designees of the City of Tontitown. 
   STREET. A general term denoting a public or private thoroughfare that affords the principal means 
of access to abutting property. The term includes all facilities that normally occur within the right-of-
way; it shall also include such other designations as highway, thoroughfare, parkway, road, 
throughway, pike, avenue, boulevard, land, place, court, but shall not include an alley or a pedestrian 
way. For the purpose of this chapter, STREETS shall be classified as follows. 
      (1)   ARTERIAL STREETS. Those streets designated as arterial, major and minor, on the 
Tontitown Master Street Plan. 
      (2)   COLLECTOR STREETS. Those streets designated as collector and sub-collector streets on 
the Master Street Plan. 
      (3)   RESIDENTIAL STREETS. Streets that are used primarily for access to abutting properties. 
      (4)   LOOP STREETS. Minor streets that begin from one minor street and curve to end on the 
same minor street. 
      (5)   CUL-DE-SAC. Short local streets having one end open to traffic and being permanently 
terminated at the other end by a circular area which permits vehicles to turn around without having to 
stop and back up. 
      (6)   DEAD-END STREETS. Those streets that have terminated at one end where vehicles must 



 

C -7 
 

stop and back up in order to turn around. 
   STREET, EXISTING. Any street that has a minimum width of 18 feet of hard surfaced material. 
Gravel roads or roads which are in extremely poor condition will not qualify as an EXISTING 
STREET for purposes of this regulation. 
   STREET WIDTH. The width of the street used for traffic or when curbs are used the distance from 
back of curb to back of curb. 
   STRUCTURE. Anything inanimate constructed or erected with a fixed location on the ground, or 
attached to something having a fixed location on the ground including roof overhangs, carports, 
garages, porches, and other similar structures. 
   SUBDIVIDER. Any person dividing or proposing to divide land so as to constitute a subdivision and 
includes any agent of the subdivider. 
   SUBDIVISION. The division of any parcel of land into separate lots, units or building sites for the 
purpose (whether immediate or future) of sale or building development. 
   SUBDIVISION, MINOR. A subdivision of land into five or less lots, parcels or other divisions. 
   SURVEYOR. See LAND SURVEYOR. 
   SWALE, DRAINAGE. A shallow trough-like depression that carries water mainly during rainstorms. 
   TERRITORIAL JURISDICTION. The territory surrounding the city, as defined in state planning 
statutes, within which the city’s planning area is constrained. 
   TRACT. A specified or limited area of land, normally measured by a metes and bounds description. 
   USE. The purpose for which land or a building is designed, arranged, or intended, or for which 
either is, or may be, occupied or maintained. 
   USGS. United States Geological Survey. 
   UTILITY EASEMENT. A grant by a property owner or trustee for the use by the public, a 
corporation, or certain persons of a described area of land by public or private utilities. 
   VACATION. Legal abandonment of a platted street right-of-way or easement. 
   VARIANCE. An official dispensation to act contrary to a zoning regulation. 
   VERTICAL DATUM. Used to measure heights given on maps. The starting point for measuring 
these heights are mean sea level points established at coastal places. 
   WAIVER. Permission from the Planning Commission to depart from certain requirements herein. 
   WATERCOURSE (WET OR DRY). A running stream of water having a bed and banks; or the 
easement one may have in the flowing of such a stream in its accustomed course. 
A WATERCOURSE may sometimes be dry. 
   ZONING ORDINANCE. Laws that control the use of land within the city. 
(Ord. 2013-04-417, passed 4-2-13; Am. Ord. 2013-09-440, § 152.200.01, passed 9-3-13; Am. Ord. 
2014-12-488, passed 12-2-14) 
 
 
CODE AS WILL READ  
 

§ 152.015  DEFINITIONS. 
   Definitions not expressly prescribed herein are to be construed in accordance with the customary 
usage in municipal planning and engineering practices. Whenever used in this regulation, the word 
“may” is permissive, while the word “shall” is to be interpreted in its mandatory sense. For the 
purpose of interpreting this regulation, certain words used herein are defined as follows: 
   AASHTO. American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials. 
   ABUTTING. Having property or district lines in common. Since zoning district lines fall to the 
centerline of a street, alley, or waterway, lots that appear physically separated abut at said district 
line. 
   ACCESS. The way or means by which a piece of property is approached or entered. 
   ACCESS EASEMENT. An easement granted by an owner of land to provide access to a lot or 
parcel not fronting a street or roadway. 
   ADA. Americans with Disabilities Act. 
   AGENT (OF CITY). Person with delegated authority for a specific purpose. 
ARDOT. Arkansas Department of Transportation. 
   ALLEY. A minor public right-of-way used for utility installations and vehicular access to the back or 
the side of properties abutting a street. 
   APPROVAL, CONDITIONAL. Approval of a plan, plat, or activity by the Commission subject to 
performance by the applicant of certain stipulated conditions. 

javascript:void(0)


 

C -8 
 

   BILL OF ASSURANCE. A private agreement attached to a plat which establishes property use and 
development rules specific to the properties in the particular subdivision and which may be binding 
upon subsequent owners of the property. 
   BLOCK. A parcel of land, intended to be used for urban purposes, which is entirely surrounded by 
public streets, highways, railroad rights-of-way, public walks, parks, drainage channels, or a 
combination thereof. 
   BOARD OF ZONING ADJUSTMENT. The Board of Zoning Adjustment considers requests for relief 
(variances) from certain zoning ordinance provisions, and rules on matters of interpretation 
associated with the zoning ordinance. 
   BOND. Any form of security including a cash deposit, surety bond or instrument of credit in an 
amount and form satisfactory to the city. 
   BUFFER. A strip of land established to protect one type of land use from another. A buffer strip is 
landscaped and kept in open space. 
   BUFFER, PERIMETER LANDSCAPING. A continuous area of land set aside along the perimeter 
of a lot in which landscaping is used to provide a transition between, and reduce the environmental, 
aesthetic, and other impacts of one type of land use upon another. 
   BUILDING CODE. Regulations established by local governments describing the minimum 
requirements for buildings; includes foundation, roofing, plumbing, electrical, and other specifications 
for safety and sanitation. 
   BUILDING LINE. A line parallel to a lot line establishing an area between it and the lot line where 
no portion of the building may be erected. 
   BUILDING SETBACKS. See SETBACKS. 
   CERTIFICATE OF COMPLETION OF IMPROVEMENTS. A statement by a developer’s engineer of 
record certifying that all improvements and installations are complete and built in conformance with 
the city’s specifications and this subdivision regulation. 
   CIRCUIT CLERK. The Washington County Circuit Clerk. 
   CITY. The City of Tontitown, Arkansas. 
   CITY LIMITS. The limits of the land area occupied by, and under jurisdiction of the City of 
Tontitown. 
   CITY STAFF. Employees and designees of the City of Tontitown. 
   COMMENCEMENT OF CONSTRUCTION. Any clearing of the land, excavation, construction, or 
other substantial action that would adversely affect the natural environment of the site. 
   COMMISSION. The Planning Commission of the City of Tontitown, Arkansas. 
   COMPLETION DATE OF PROJECT. A date established by agreement between the planning 
commission and applicant as reached at time of preliminary plat approval. 
      COMPREHENSIVE PLAN. A composite of the mapped and written proposals, as adopted by the 
Planning Commission and City Council, whether in whole or in part, recommending the physical 
development of the community. Said plan includes, but not limited to, the planning area map, Land 
Use Plan, Master Street Plan and Master Street Plan Map for the city. 
   COUNCIL. The City Council of the City of Tontitown, Arkansas. 
   COUNTY. Washington County, Arkansas. 
   COVENANT. A provision in a deed limiting the use of the property and prohibiting certain uses. 
   CUL-DE-SAC. A street with only one outlet and being permanently terminated within the plat by a 
vehicular turnaround. 
   DBH. Diameter at breast height. 
   DEAD END STREET. A street having one end open to traffic and being permanently or temporarily 
terminated at the opposite end. 
   DEDICATION. Land and improvements offered to the city and accepted by the city for public use, 
control and maintenance. DEDICATIONS may include streets, alleys, rights-of-way, utility easements, 
drainage easements, or other easement as appropriate. 
   DEED. A legal document conveying ownership of real property. 
   DESIGN SPEED. The maximum safe speed that can be maintained over a specified section of 
roadway when conditions are so favorable that the design features of the roadway govern. 
   DETENTION POND. A stormwater management facility designed to protect against flooding and, in 
some cases, downstream erosion by storing stormwater runoff for a limited period of time. Water 
stored by a detention pond is subsequently released at a controlled rate equal to or less than the pre-
development runoff rate that the facility is designed to maintain. A DETENTION POND is intended to 
be dry except during and after stormwater producing events. 



 

C -9 
 

   DEVELOPER. That person, firm or corporation undertaking to develop a subdivision or any other 
type of land development as defined in these subdivision regulations. 
   DEVELOPMENT. Any man-made change in improved and unimproved real estate, including but 
not limited to buildings or other structures, mining, dredging, filling, grading, paving, excavation or 
drilling operations or storage of equipment or materials. 
   DEVELOPMENT PLAN. A drawing showing all proposed improvements to a piece of property 
including streets, parking lots, buildings, drives, signs, utilities, drainage, and grading by size and 
location. 
   DRAINAGE EASEMENT. An easement providing for the flow and removal of surface water across 
a property. 
   DRIVEWAY. An entrance to one or more properties created by the owner(s) thereof for the 
exclusive use and enjoyment of such properties and under the total control of such owner(s). 
   EASEMENT. A grant by a property owner or trustee for the use by the public, a corporation, or 
certain persons of a strip described area of land for specific purposes. 
   EGRESS. A means of exit from a property to a public street. 
   ENGINEER. A registered professional engineer in good standing, and licensed to practice in the 
State of Arkansas. 
   FEDERAL EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT AGENCY (FEMA). The federal agency that, in addition 
to carrying out other activities, oversees the administration of the National Flood Insurance Program. 
   FINAL PLAT APPROVAL. Approval of a plat that is in conformance with the preliminary plat along 
with all required financial guarantees. 
   FIRE APPARATUS ROAD. A roadway provided for use by emergency and fire vehicles to access a 
subdivision from a main artery. Full specifications are provided in the Arkansas Fire Prevention Code. 
   FIRE CHIEF. The appointed official of the City of Tontitown responsible for all functions of the 
Tontitown Fire Department. 
   FIRE MARSHAL. The Tontitown Fire Chief or his or her designee, responsible for enforcement of 
the adopted Fire Prevention Code. 
   FIRM. Flood Insurance Rate Map. 
   FLOODPLAIN. A geographic area susceptible to periodic inundation from overflow of natural 
waterways and determined as to extent by the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). 
   FLOODWAY. The channel of a river or other watercourse and the adjacent land areas that must be 
reserved in order to discharge the base flood without cumulatively increasing the water surface 
elevation more than a designated height. Communities must regulate development in these 
floodways to ensure that there are no increases in upstream flood elevations. For streams and other 
watercourses where FEMA has provided Base Flood Elevations (BFEs), but no floodway has been 
designated, the community must review floodplain development on a case-by-case basis to ensure 
that increases in water surface elevations do not occur, or identify the need to adopt a floodway if 
adequate information is available. 
   FRONTAGE ROAD. A street, parallel to and adjacent to a major highway or thoroughfare, which 
provides access to abutting properties. 
   FUNCTIONAL CLASSIFICATION SYSTEM. The process by which streets and highways are 
grouped into classes, or systems, according to the character of service they are intended to provide. 
   HEALTH DEPARTMENT. The Washington County Health Department and/or Arkansas State 
Health Department. 
   HIGHWAY DEPARTMENT, STATE.  Arkansas Department of Transportation. 
   HORIZONTAL DATUM. At its most basic level of definition, the HORIZONTAL DATUM is a 
collection of specific points on the earth that have been identified according to their precise northerly 
or southerly location (latitude) and easterly or westerly location (longitude) (National Geodetic Survey, 
1986). 
   HORIZONTAL PROPERTY REGIME. Creation of a condominium project in which co-owners own 
free interests in units together with fractional interests in general common elements which determines 
the use to be made of improved land whether or not such improvement is composed of one or more 
separate buildings of one or more floors or stories. 
   HOUSING CODE. Part of the technical codes adopted by the City of Tontitown. 
   IMPROVEMENT. Any betterment of existing conditions of land such as, but not limited to, streets, 
curbs, gutters, sidewalks, trails, pavement, pedestrian ways, water mains, sanitary sewers, storm 
sewers, stormwater detention or retention facilities, signs, monuments, landscaping, streetlights, fire 
hydrants, or other actions resulting in permanent changes in the condition of the land. 



 

C -10 
 

   IMPROVEMENT PLANS. The engineering drawings showing types of materials and construction 
details for the physical structures and facilities, excluding dwelling units to be installed in conjunction 
with the development of the subdivision. 
   INCIDENTAL SUBDIVISION. The subdivision of land that does not require an applicant to go 
through the complete preliminary and final plat process. INCIDENTAL SUBDIVISIONS include lot 
splits, informal plats, property line adjustments and correction plats. 
   INGRESS. A means of entrance to a property from a city street. 
   INTERNATIONAL FIRE CODE. This title is used synonymously with the ARKANSAS FIRE 
PREVENTION CODE. 
   IRREVOCABLE LETTER OF CREDIT. A legal financial instrument in the form approved by the City 
of Tontitown. The instrument gives the right to a dollar amount to the city to guarantee construction or 
maintenance of improvements in a subdivision. 
   LAND SURVEYOR. An individual licensed to practice land surveying in the State of Arkansas. 
   LAND USE PLAN. A written plan with goals and objectives along with a map depicting and 
describing present land uses and future land uses expected in the city. This plan is approved by the 
City Council. 
   LARGE SCALE DEVELOPMENT. The development of a parcel or a lot within a platted subdivision. 
The term DEVELOPMENT shall include, but not be limited to, the construction of a new improvement, 
the construction of an addition to an existing improvement, or a revision of land use that results in the 
need for access and utilities. 
   (LID) LOW IMPACT DRAINAGE DESIGN. A method of designing drainage systems or facilities to 
allow runoff to penetrate the ground in-place instead of concentrating runoff in structures or facilities. 
   LOT. A parcel of land, legally defined in a recorded deed or a recorded plat, fronting on a public 
street, or other approved means of access. The LOT shall not be divided by any public highway or 
alley, including any part thereof subject to any easement for any purpose other than a public highway 
or alley, but excluding any part thereof severed from another lot where the severance creates any 
nonconformity of use or structure. The LOT shall establish one building site and comply with all 
subdivision rules and regulations of the city. 
   LOT, DOUBLE FRONTAGE. A lot that runs through a block from street to street and having 
frontage on two non-intersecting streets. 
   LOT, REVERSE FRONTAGE. A double frontage lot that is designed to be developed with the rear 
yard abutting a major street and with the primary means of ingress and egress provided on a minor 
street. 
   LOT SPLIT. A subdivision which involves the dividing or redesigning of an existing lot or lots within 
a block of a recorded subdivision and which does not involve the vacating, widening, narrowing or 
change of alignment of any thoroughfare, street, alley or easement, or involve improvements required 
by these regulations. 
   LUMEN. A unit of measure of the intensity of light produce by a lamp (bulb) as indicated by the 
manufacturer. 
   MASTER STREET PLAN. The plan made and adopted by the Planning Commission and accepted 
by the City Council classifying certain streets within the planning area as arterial or collector streets. 
   NWARPC. The Northwest Arkansas Regional Planning Commission. 
   OUTDOOR LIGHT FIXTURES, (OUTDOOR LIGHTING). An outdoor illuminating device, outdoor 
lighting or reflective surface, lamp or similar device, permanently installed or portable, used for 
illumination, decoration, or advertisement. Such devices shall include, but are not limited to lights 
used for buildings and structures; recreational areas; parking lot lighting; landscape lighting; 
architectural lighting; product display area lighting; building overhangs; open canopies; and security 
lighting. 
   ONE HUNDRED-YEAR (100-YEAR) FLOOD. A flood with 1% chance of occurring in any year. The 
term is misleading because of its statistical derivation. A 100- YEAR FLOOD may occur many times 
in any given 100-year period, or it may not occur at all in 100-years. 
   OUT LOTS. Parcels or tracts of land proposed as part of a large scale development for future use 
or development, or as part of a subdivision as non-conforming lots dedicated for stormwater 
detention, public uses, or use by a property owners association but not available for building 
purposes. 
   PARCEL. A division of land in contiguous ownership. 
   PAVED WIDTH. The portion of a street available for vehicular traffic; where curbs are laid, it is the 
distance from back of curb to back of curb. 



 

C -11 
 

   PAVING. A substance which is concrete, asphalt, asphaltic seal coat over rock base, or any other 
approved quality paving material. 
   PEDESTRIAN ACCOMMODATION. To provide continuous pedestrian travel, segregated from 
vehicular traffic, within the subdivision and the subdivision boundary. 
   PERFORMANCE BOND or GUARANTEE. Any security which may be accepted in lieu of a 
requirement that certain improvements be made before the planning commission approves a final 
plat, including performance bonds by subdividers or improvement contractors, escrow agreements, 
letters of credit, and other similar collateral or surety agreements. 
   PLANNING AREA, MAP or BOUNDARY. The area within the city’s territorial jurisdiction for which 
the Planning Commission has determined it will prepare plans and recommend ordinances and 
regulations; same being the TONTITOWN PLANNING AREA. The PLANNING AREA shall be the 
area in which provisions of Tontitown’s subdivision regulations shall apply. 
   PLANNING COMMISSION. The Planning Commission of the City of Tontitown. 
   PLANNING OFFICIAL. The staff person having overall responsibility for administering these 
regulations. 
   PLAT. A map or chart indicating the subdivision or re-subdivision of land, intended to be filed for 
record. 
   PLAT, CORRECTION. A correction to an existing plat that is necessary due to an incorrect legal 
description or scribner errors. 
   PLAT, FINAL. A finished drawing showing completely and accurately all legal and engineering 
information and certifications necessary for recording, and includes the bill of assurance, if applicable. 
   PLAT, PRELIMINARY. A drawing which shows the proposed layout of a subdivision in sufficient 
detail to indicate unquestionably its workability in all aspect, but is not in final form for recording and 
the details are not completely computed. 
   PLAT, SKETCH. An informal plan of the proposed subdivision to be submitted by the developer 
during the pre-application process, the purpose being to acquaint the developer with city plans and 
policies relevant to the proposed subdivision. 
   PRE-APPLICATION CONFERENCE. A meeting between planning officials and a developer to give 
the developer an opportunity to obtain advice concerning a proposed development or subdivision to 
avoid unnecessary costs or delays, and to obtain informal guidance to prevent conflicts. This 
conference takes place before submission of the formal application for approval of a plan or a 
preliminary plat. 
   PRIVATE STREET. A street or roadway that is privately owned and maintained, and has not sought 
public funding in the past for the maintenance of said road. PRIVATE ROADSwill not prohibit access 
by any police, emergency, utility, or other service vehicles. 
   PROPERTY LINE ADJUSTMENT. A transfer or adjustment of a property line that does not create a 
separate, new lot. A PROPERTY LINE ADJUSTMENT may or may not dedicate right-of-way or utility 
easements. 
   PROTECTIVE COVENANTS. Property restrictions established by the subdivider and recorded with 
the final plat of the subdivision. 
   PUBLIC UTILITY. A public or private business organization, subject to governmental regulation, 
that provides an essential commodity or service, such as water, sewer, natural gas, electricity, 
transportation, or communication, to the public. 
   QUORUM COURT. The Washington County Quorum Court (15 Justices of Peace elected by 
district). 
   REPLAT. The act of platting the lots, parcels, and easements in a recorded subdivision or partition 
plat to achieve a reconfiguration of the existing subdivision or partition plat, or to increase or decrease 
the number of lots in the subdivision. 
   RE-SUBDIVISION. The changing of any existing lot or lots of any subdivision plat previously 
recorded with the County Circuit Clerk. RE-SUBDIVISION includes new townhouse or condominium 
projects, and the conversion of rental townhouses or condominiums into private ownership. RE-
SUBDIVISION also includes lots, parcels, units and real property converted to time-share units or 
estates. 
   RETENTION POND. A stormwater management facility designed to protect against flooding and, in 
some cases, downstream erosion by storing additional water in the form of stormwater runoff for a 
limited period of time. 
      (1)   Additional water stored by a detention pond is subsequently released at a controlled rate 
equal to or less than the pre-development runoff rate that the facility is designed to maintain. 



 

C -12 
 

      (2)   A RETENTION POND is designed to retain water at all times and is sometimes referred to as 
a WET DETENTION POND. 
   RIGHT-OF-WAY. The usage of the term RIGHT-OF-WAY for land platting purposes shall mean 
that every right-of-way hereafter established and shown on a final plat. Every RIGHT-OF-WAY is to 
be separate and distinct from the lots or parcels adjoining such right-of-way and not included within 
the dimensions or areas of such lots. RIGHTS-OF-WAY intended for streets, trails, water mains, 
sanitary sewers, storm drains, or any other use involving maintenance by a public agency or utility 
company, shall be dedicated to public use by the maker of the plat on which such right-of-way is 
established. 
   SETBACKS, BUILDING. Lines imposed on each lot or parcel where the placement of structures is 
restricted. 
   SKETCH PLANS. See PLATS, SKETCH. 
   STAFF. Employees and designees of the City of Tontitown. 
   STREET. A general term denoting a public or private thoroughfare that affords the principal means 
of access to abutting property. The term includes all facilities that normally occur within the right-of-
way; it shall also include such other designations as highway, thoroughfare, parkway, road, 
throughway, pike, avenue, boulevard, land, place, court, but shall not include an alley or a pedestrian 
way. For the purpose of this chapter, STREETS shall be classified as follows. 
      (1)   ARTERIAL STREETS. Those streets designated as arterial, major and minor, on the 
Tontitown Master Street Plan. 
      (2)   COLLECTOR STREETS. Those streets designated as collector and sub-collector streets on 
the Master Street Plan. 
      (3)   RESIDENTIAL STREETS. Streets that are used primarily for access to abutting properties. 
      (4)   LOOP STREETS. Minor streets that begin from one minor street and curve to end on the 
same minor street. 
      (5)   CUL-DE-SAC. Short local streets having one end open to traffic and being permanently 
terminated at the other end by a circular area which permits vehicles to turn around without having to 
stop and back up. 
      (6)   DEAD-END STREETS. Those streets that have terminated at one end where vehicles must 
stop and back up in order to turn around. 
   STREET, EXISTING. Any street that has a minimum width of 18 feet of hard surfaced material. 
Gravel roads or roads which are in extremely poor condition will not qualify as an EXISTING 
STREET for purposes of this regulation. 
   STREET WIDTH. The width of the street used for traffic or when curbs are used the distance from 
back of curb to back of curb. 
   STRUCTURE. Anything inanimate constructed or erected with a fixed location on the ground, or 
attached to something having a fixed location on the ground including roof overhangs, carports, 
garages, porches, and other similar structures. 
   SUBDIVIDER. Any person dividing or proposing to divide land so as to constitute a subdivision and 
includes any agent of the subdivider. 
   SUBDIVISION. The division of any parcel of land into separate lots, units or building sites for the 
purpose (whether immediate or future) of sale or building development. 
   SUBDIVISION, MINOR. A subdivision of land into five or less lots, parcels or other divisions. 
   SURVEYOR. See LAND SURVEYOR. 
   SWALE, DRAINAGE. A shallow trough-like depression that carries water mainly during rainstorms. 
   TERRITORIAL JURISDICTION. The territory surrounding the city, as defined in state planning 
statutes, within which the city’s planning area is constrained. 
   TRACT. A specified or limited area of land, normally measured by a metes and bounds description. 
   USE. The purpose for which land or a building is designed, arranged, or intended, or for which 
either is, or may be, occupied or maintained. 
   USGS. United States Geological Survey. 
   UTILITY EASEMENT. A grant by a property owner or trustee for the use by the public, a 
corporation, or certain persons of a described area of land by public or private utilities. 
   VACATION. Legal abandonment of a platted street right-of-way or easement. 
   VARIANCE. An official dispensation to act contrary to a zoning regulation. 
   VERTICAL DATUM. Used to measure heights given on maps. The starting point for measuring 
these heights are mean sea level points established at coastal places. 
   WAIVER. Permission from the Planning Commission to depart from certain requirements herein. 



 

C -13 
 

   WATERCOURSE (WET OR DRY). A running stream of water having a bed and banks; or the 
easement one may have in the flowing of such a stream in its accustomed course. 
A WATERCOURSE may sometimes be dry. 
   ZONING ORDINANCE. Laws that control the use of land within the city. 
(Ord. 2013-04-417, passed 4-2-13; Am. Ord. 2013-09-440, § 152.200.01, passed 9-3-13; Am. Ord. 
2014-12-488, passed 12-2-14) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• Update Code 152-025 
STAFF ANALYSIS- These changes are for clarification.  
 

CURRENT CODE SHOWING ADJUSTMENTS   
 § 152.025  ADMINISTRATION. 
   (A)   These rules and regulations shall be administered by the Planning Commission and the city 
staff. The Commission may, from time to time, recommend instructions and operating procedures to 
be followed in the administration of these regulations to the end that the public may be better 
informed and that approval of plats be expedited. 
   (B)   In addition to the requirements established herein, all subdivision plats shall comply with all 
other, current and future, applicable rules, regulations and laws including but not limited to the Land 
Use Plan, the Master Street Plan, and the zoning ordinance, building and housing codes, and any 
other regulations adopted by the City Council, and any regulations or special requirements of the 
State Health Department, State Highway and Transportation Department Arkansas Department of 
Transportation, or other appropriate state agencies. 
(Ord. 2013-04-417, passed 4-2-13; Am. Ord. 2013-09-440, § 152.300.01, passed 9-3-13) 
 
CODE AS WILL READ  
§ 152.025  ADMINISTRATION. 
   (A)   These rules and regulations shall be administered by the Planning Commission and the city 
staff. The Commission may, from time to time, recommend instructions and operating procedures to 
be followed in the administration of these regulations to the end that the public may be better 
informed and that approval of plats be expedited. 
   (B)   In addition to the requirements established herein, all subdivision plats shall comply with all 
other, current and future, applicable rules, regulations and laws including but not limited to the Land 
Use Plan, the Master Street Plan, and the zoning ordinance, building and housing codes, and any 
other regulations adopted by the City Council, and any regulations or special requirements of the 
State Health Department, Arkansas Department of Transportation, or other appropriate state 
agencies. 
(Ord. 2013-04-417, passed 4-2-13; Am. Ord. 2013-09-440, § 152.300.01, passed 9-3-13) 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 

C -14 
 

• Update Code 152-060 
STAFF ANALYSIS- These changes are for clarification.  
 

CURRENT CODE SHOWING ADJUSTMENTS   
152.060  APPLICABILITY. 
   An application for final plat approval may be submitted for Planning Commission approval when one 
of the following requirements is met: 
   (A)   Improvements complete. The final plat of the proposed subdivision or an approved phase may 
be submitted to the Planning Commission for final approval at the time of completion of improvements 
shown on the preliminary plat. 
      (1)   Certificate of completion. The owner/developer’s engineer-of-record submits a statement 
certifying that all improvements and installations to the subdivision required for its approval under the 
terms of these regulations have been made, added, or installed in accordance with city specifications. 
      (2)   Final inspection. The City Engineer , City Building Official or their designees conducts and 
certifies a final inspection. 
   (B)   Improvements substantially complete. When the subdivision is substantially complete, as 
provided for in § 152.067, and owner/developer guarantees completion of the remaining items, as 
provided for in § 152.068, in accordance with § 152.030, the final plat may be submitted for final 
approval. 
(Ord. 2013-04-417, passed 4-2-13; Am. Ord. 2013-09-440, § 152.500.01, passed 9-3-13) 
 
CODE AS WILL READ  
152.060  APPLICABILITY. 
   An application for final plat approval may be submitted for Planning Commission approval when one 
of the following requirements is met: 
   (A)   Improvements complete. The final plat of the proposed subdivision or an approved phase may 
be submitted to the Planning Commission for final approval at the time of completion of improvements 
shown on the preliminary plat. 
      (1)   Certificate of completion. The owner/developer’s engineer-of-record submits a statement 
certifying that all improvements and installations to the subdivision required for its approval under the 
terms of these regulations have been made, added, or installed in accordance with city specifications. 
      (2)   Final inspection. The City Building Official or their designees conducts and certifies a final 
inspection. 
   (B)   Improvements substantially complete. When the subdivision is substantially complete, as 
provided for in § 152.067, and owner/developer guarantees completion of the remaining items, as 
provided for in § 152.068, in accordance with § 152.030, the final plat may be submitted for final 
approval. 
(Ord. 2013-04-417, passed 4-2-13; Am. Ord. 2013-09-440, § 152.500.01, passed 9-3-13) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://library.amlegal.com/nxt/gateway.dll?f=jumplink$jumplink_x=Advanced$jumplink_vpc=first$jumplink_xsl=querylink.xsl$jumplink_sel=title;path;content-type;home-title;item-bookmark$jumplink_d=arkansas(tontitown_ar)$jumplink_q=%5bfield%20folio-destination-name:%27152.067%27%5d$jumplink_md=target-id=JD_152.067
http://library.amlegal.com/nxt/gateway.dll?f=jumplink$jumplink_x=Advanced$jumplink_vpc=first$jumplink_xsl=querylink.xsl$jumplink_sel=title;path;content-type;home-title;item-bookmark$jumplink_d=arkansas(tontitown_ar)$jumplink_q=%5bfield%20folio-destination-name:%27152.068%27%5d$jumplink_md=target-id=JD_152.068
http://library.amlegal.com/nxt/gateway.dll?f=jumplink$jumplink_x=Advanced$jumplink_vpc=first$jumplink_xsl=querylink.xsl$jumplink_sel=title;path;content-type;home-title;item-bookmark$jumplink_d=arkansas(tontitown_ar)$jumplink_q=%5bfield%20folio-destination-name:%27152.030%27%5d$jumplink_md=target-id=JD_152.030
http://library.amlegal.com/nxt/gateway.dll?f=jumplink$jumplink_x=Advanced$jumplink_vpc=first$jumplink_xsl=querylink.xsl$jumplink_sel=title;path;content-type;home-title;item-bookmark$jumplink_d=arkansas(tontitown_ar)$jumplink_q=%5bfield%20folio-destination-name:%27152.067%27%5d$jumplink_md=target-id=JD_152.067
http://library.amlegal.com/nxt/gateway.dll?f=jumplink$jumplink_x=Advanced$jumplink_vpc=first$jumplink_xsl=querylink.xsl$jumplink_sel=title;path;content-type;home-title;item-bookmark$jumplink_d=arkansas(tontitown_ar)$jumplink_q=%5bfield%20folio-destination-name:%27152.068%27%5d$jumplink_md=target-id=JD_152.068
http://library.amlegal.com/nxt/gateway.dll?f=jumplink$jumplink_x=Advanced$jumplink_vpc=first$jumplink_xsl=querylink.xsl$jumplink_sel=title;path;content-type;home-title;item-bookmark$jumplink_d=arkansas(tontitown_ar)$jumplink_q=%5bfield%20folio-destination-name:%27152.030%27%5d$jumplink_md=target-id=JD_152.030


 

C -15 
 

• Update Code 152-061 
STAFF ANALYSIS- These changes are for clarification.  
 

CURRENT CODE SHOWING ADJUSTMENTS    
152.061  APPLICATION FOR FINAL PLAT. 
   When the requirements of these regulations have been satisfied and while the preliminary plat 
approval is in effect, the owner/developer shall submit to the Planning Commission an application for 
review and approval of the final plat pursuant to the Tontitown development calendar which shall 
consist of: application. A completed application requesting review and approval of the final plat. 
   (A)   Plat. The final plat in the number of prints as indicated on the application form, with all items 
required for a final plat as provided for in §§ 152.115 through 152.117, and other documents as 
specified in the application. 
   (B)   Fee. Payment of the filing fee as specified in final plat application or schedule of fees. 
   (C)   Digital copy. The owner/developer must submit with an application for final plat approval, the 
proposed final plat in digital form with all information in AutoCAD (DWG) PDF format on CD. 
Information shall include property boundary, lot lines, easements, building setbacks, rights-of-way, 
street widths, pre-addresses, street names, arc radius, arc distance, and any other information that 
the Planning Commission may require. Line and curve data shall have bearing and distance chords. 
Questions concerning this requirement may be directed to the City Engineer or the Planning Clerk. 
   (D)   Donated assets. Approved estimate of donated assets, broken down by improvement type 
(streets, water, electric, sewer, drainage, and sidewalks), as prepared by the engineer-of-record and 
approved by the City Engineer or their designee. 
(Ord. 2013-04-417, passed 4-2-13; Am. Ord. 2013-09-440, § 152.500.02, passed 9-3-13) 
 
CODE AS WILL READ  
152.061  APPLICATION FOR FINAL PLAT. 
   When the requirements of these regulations have been satisfied and while the preliminary plat 
approval is in effect, the owner/developer shall submit to the Planning Commission an application for 
review and approval of the final plat pursuant to the Tontitown development calendar which shall 
consist of: application. A completed application requesting review and approval of the final plat. 
   (A)   Plat. The final plat in the number of prints as indicated on the application form, with all items 
required for a final plat as provided for in §§ 152.115 through 152.117, and other documents as 
specified in the application. 
   (B)   Fee. Payment of the filing fee as specified in final plat application or schedule of fees. 
   (C)   Digital copy. The owner/developer must submit with an application for final plat approval, the 
proposed final plat in digital form with all information in PDF format on CD. Information shall include 
property boundary, lot lines, easements, building setbacks, rights-of-way, street widths, pre-
addresses, street names, arc radius, arc distance, and any other information that the Planning 
Commission may require. Line and curve data shall have bearing and distance chords. Questions 
concerning this requirement may be directed to the City Engineer or the Planning Clerk. 
   (D)   Donated assets. Approved estimate of donated assets, broken down by improvement type 
(streets, water, electric, sewer, drainage, and sidewalks), as prepared by the engineer-of-record and 
approved by the City Engineer or their designee. 
(Ord. 2013-04-417, passed 4-2-13; Am. Ord. 2013-09-440, § 152.500.02, passed 9-3-13) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://library.amlegal.com/nxt/gateway.dll?f=jumplink$jumplink_x=Advanced$jumplink_vpc=first$jumplink_xsl=querylink.xsl$jumplink_sel=title;path;content-type;home-title;item-bookmark$jumplink_d=arkansas(tontitown_ar)$jumplink_q=%5bfield%20folio-destination-name:%27152.115%27%5d$jumplink_md=target-id=JD_152.115
http://library.amlegal.com/nxt/gateway.dll?f=jumplink$jumplink_x=Advanced$jumplink_vpc=first$jumplink_xsl=querylink.xsl$jumplink_sel=title;path;content-type;home-title;item-bookmark$jumplink_d=arkansas(tontitown_ar)$jumplink_q=%5bfield%20folio-destination-name:%27152.117%27%5d$jumplink_md=target-id=JD_152.117
http://library.amlegal.com/nxt/gateway.dll?f=jumplink$jumplink_x=Advanced$jumplink_vpc=first$jumplink_xsl=querylink.xsl$jumplink_sel=title;path;content-type;home-title;item-bookmark$jumplink_d=arkansas(tontitown_ar)$jumplink_q=%5bfield%20folio-destination-name:%27152.115%27%5d$jumplink_md=target-id=JD_152.115
http://library.amlegal.com/nxt/gateway.dll?f=jumplink$jumplink_x=Advanced$jumplink_vpc=first$jumplink_xsl=querylink.xsl$jumplink_sel=title;path;content-type;home-title;item-bookmark$jumplink_d=arkansas(tontitown_ar)$jumplink_q=%5bfield%20folio-destination-name:%27152.117%27%5d$jumplink_md=target-id=JD_152.117


 

C -16 
 

• Update Code 152-072 
STAFF ANALYSIS- These changes are for clarification.  

 
CURRENT CODE SHOWING ADJUSTMENTS   
 

DIVISION 7. ACCESSORY USES    
 
Sec. 153-072. Location Requirements and Standards.   
An accessory building shall not be located within a required street (front or street side) setback; shall 
be subject to all setback standards of the underlying zoning district; shall not be located within any 
public easement or over any known utilities or septic system lines. Accessory buildings, in all zones, 
shall not exceed the floor area gross floor area of the principal use or as noted below, as long as the 
zoning district listed meets minimum lot size.  Unless otherwise provided herein, and provided site 
visibility is not obstructed, signs, fences and walls shall be allowed within setbacks. 

A.        N/A 
 RE N/A 
 R-1 100% 
 R-2 100% 
 R-3  67% 
 R-3L  67% 
 R-MF  67% 
 R-MH  67% 
 

**Note** If the primary use is residential, and it is located in a commercial or industrial 
zoning district, the setback requirements would follow the zoning district in which 
located. 

An accessory building attached to a main building shall be made structurally a part and have a common 
wall with the main building, and shall comply in all respects with the requirements applicable to the 
principal building.  Provided detached, open-sided carports may be located in the side yard, no closer 
to the front lot line than the front building line of the principal building, and provided required side 
setbacks are met.  Unless attached to the principal structure, accessory buildings shall be located at 
least ten feet (10') from any other structure or as provided in the building code whichever is more 
restrictive. 
 
With regard to height limitations, accessory structures in residential districts shall not exceed the height 
of the primary structure, measured from the eave; and in commercial and industrial districts, such 
structures shall not exceed twenty-five feet (25') in height or the height of the principal structure on the 
lot. 
CODE AS WILL READ  

DIVISION 7. ACCESSORY USES    
 
Sec. 153-072. Location Requirements and Standards.   
An accessory building shall not be located within a required street (front or street side) setback; shall 
be subject to all setback standards of the underlying zoning district; shall not be located within any 
public easement or over any known utilities or septic system lines. Accessory buildings, in all zones, 
shall not exceed the gross floor area of the principal use or as noted below, as long as the zoning 
district listed meets minimum lot size.  Unless otherwise provided herein, and provided site visibility is 
not obstructed, signs, fences and walls shall be allowed within setbacks. 

A.        N/A 
 RE N/A 
 R-1 100% 
 R-2 100% 
 R-3  67% 
 R-3L  67% 
 R-MF  67% 
 R-MH  67% 



 

C -17 
 

 
**Note** If the primary use is residential, and it is located in a commercial or industrial zoning 
district, the setback requirements would follow the zoning district in which located. 

 
An accessory building attached to a main building shall be made structurally a part and have a common 
wall with the main building, and shall comply in all respects with the requirements applicable to the 
principal building.  Provided detached, open-sided carports may be located in the side yard, no closer 
to the front lot line than the front building line of the principal building, and provided required side 
setbacks are met.  Unless attached to the principal structure, accessory buildings shall be located at 
least ten feet (10') from any other structure or as provided in the building code whichever is more 
restrictive. 
 
With regard to height limitations, accessory structures in residential districts shall not exceed the height 
of the primary structure, measured from the eave; and in commercial and industrial districts, such 
structures shall not exceed twenty-five feet (25') in height or the height of the principal structure on the 
lot. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• Update Code 152-082 
STAFF ANALYSIS- These changes are for clarification.  

 
CURRENT CODE SHOWING ADJUSTMENTS   
152.082  REVIEW AND APPROVAL. 
   (A)   Review. 
      (1)   Applicability. The Planning Department, and City Engineer as needed, shall review minor 
subdivisions, property line adjustments and correction plats. All applications for waivers shall require 
approval of the Planning Commission. 
      (2)   Action. The Planning Department shall approve with conditions, or disapprove said plat. After 
formal approval by the Department, a building permit can be issued after the applicant records the 
plat at the office of the County Circuit Clerk and provides the city with two copies. If the plans are 
approved with conditions, the conditions shall be set forth in written form to the owner/developer. The 
signature of the owner/developer on the form setting forth the conditions of approval shall be deemed 
his or her agreement to comply with said conditions, whereupon a building permit may be issued. If 
the plat is disapproved, the reasons for such action shall be provided in written form to the developer. 
      (3)   Additional review. If the planning staff determines that there is a necessity of transmitting the 
plans to outside sources for additional comment or in-depth study, he or she shall notify the developer 
in writing within 30 days of receipt of plans, that a decision will not be made within the 30-day time 
period, what the reasons are for the delay and the date at which a decision can be expected. A copy 
of the letter shall be sent to the Chairman of the Planning Commission. If the developer objects to 
such an extension, the objection shall be heard as a priority item at the next regularly scheduled 
Planning Commission meeting. 
      (4)   Approval signatures. All approvals to any plat shall be signified by the signature of the 
Planning Commission Chairman upon the development plan. 
   (B)   Planning Commission action. The Planning Commission shall review any incidental subdivision 
after administrative review as set forth in division (A) within 120 days of receipt thereof, otherwise the 
incidental subdivision shall be deemed to have been approved. Approval of the incidental subdivision 
by the Planning Department shall not constitute the acceptance by the public of the dedication of any 
streets or other public ways or grounds. 
   (C)   City Council action. Any incidental subdivision that dedicates street rights-of-way or easements 
shall be reviewed by the City Council. 
(Ord. 2013-04-417, passed 4-2-13; Am. Ord. 2013-09-440, § 152.600.03, passed 9-3-13; Am. Ord. 
2015-07-530, passed 7-21-15) 
 



 

C -18 
 

 
CODE AS WILL READ  
152.082  REVIEW AND APPROVAL. 
   (A)   Review. 
      (1)   Applicability. The Planning Department, and City Engineer as needed, shall review minor 
subdivisions, property line adjustments and correction plats. All applications for waivers shall require 
approval of the Planning Commission. 
      (2)   Action. The Planning Department shall approve with conditions, or disapprove said plat. After 
formal approval by the Department, a building permit can be issued after the applicant records the 
plat at the office of the County Circuit Clerk and provides the city with two copies. If the plans are 
approved with conditions, the conditions shall be set forth in written form to the owner/developer. The 
signature of the owner/developer on the form setting forth the conditions of approval shall be deemed 
his or her agreement to comply with said conditions, whereupon a building permit may be issued. If 
the plat is disapproved, the reasons for such action shall be provided in written form to the developer. 
      (3)   Additional review. If the planning staff determines that there is a necessity of transmitting the 
plans to outside sources for additional comment or in-depth study, he or she shall notify the developer 
in writing within 30 days of receipt of plans, that a decision will not be made within the 30-day time 
period, what the reasons are for the delay and the date at which a decision can be expected. A copy 
of the letter shall be sent to the Chairman of the Planning Commission. If the developer objects to 
such an extension, the objection shall be heard as a priority item at the next regularly scheduled 
Planning Commission meeting. 
      (4)   Approval signatures. All approvals to any plat shall be signified by the signature of the 
Planning Commission Chairman upon the development plan. 
   (B)   Planning Commission action. The Planning Commission shall review any incidental subdivision 
after administrative review as set forth in division (A) within 120 days of receipt thereof, otherwise the 
incidental subdivision shall be deemed to have been approved. Approval of the incidental subdivision 
by the Planning Department shall not constitute the acceptance by the public of the dedication of any 
streets or other public ways or grounds. 
   (C)   City Council action. Any incidental subdivision that dedicates street rights-of-way or easements 
shall be reviewed by the City Council. 
(Ord. 2013-04-417, passed 4-2-13; Am. Ord. 2013-09-440, § 152.600.03, passed 9-3-13; Am. Ord. 
2015-07-530, passed 7-21-15) 
 
 
 
 
 

• Update Code 152-083 
STAFF ANALYSIS- These changes are for clarification.  
 

CURRENT CODE SHOWING ADJUSTMENTS   
152.083  RECORDING. 
   If approved, and after all conditions have been met, the applicant shall submit the plat for recording 
with the Washington County Circuit Clerk. Two copies and digital copy in AutoCAD (DWG) and PDF 
format on CD of the final recorded plat shall be furnished by the applicant to the Planning Official 
Clerk. 
 (Ord. 2013-04-417, passed 4-2-13; Am. Ord. 2013-09-440, § 152.600.04, passed 9-3-13) 
 
 
CODE AS WILL READ  
 
152.083  RECORDING. 
   If approved, and after all conditions have been met, the applicant shall submit the plat for recording 
with the Washington County Circuit Clerk. Two copies and digital copy in AutoCAD (DWG) and PDF 
format on CD of the final recorded plat shall be furnished by the applicant to the Planning Official. 
 (Ord. 2013-04-417, passed 4-2-13; Am. Ord. 2013-09-440, § 152.600.04, passed 9-3-13) 
 
 



 

C -19 
 

• Update Code 152-095 
STAFF ANALYSIS- These changes are for clarification.  

 
CURRENT CODE SHOWING ADJUSTMENTS   

 
LARGE SCALE DEVELOPMENTS 

§ 152.095  APPLICABILITY. 
   (A)   This section is applicable to all Commercial, Industrial and Multi-Family Residential 
construction within the city. 
   (B)   A development plan is required to be submitted to the Planning Commission for all such 
development or building construction regardless of zone and for all additions to existing 
developments or buildings regardless of zone. 
   (C)   Single family and duplex residential construction is specifically exempted from this 
requirement. 
   (D)   (1)   Examples of facilities or construction covered, but not limited to: 
      (2)   New commercial, industrial, or civic development and building construction. 
   (E)   (1)   Additions or improvements to existing buildings or developments that increase the overall 
square footage of the current structure(s) or development by more than 50%, not to exceed 3,999 
square feet. 
      (2)   The revision of land use that results in the need to access to public streets or utilities. 
   (F)   No building permit shall be issued and no temporary or permanent connection to utilities shall 
be allowed until the development plan has been approved as set forth in this subchapter. No 
permanent connection to utilities shall be allowed until the Chief Building Official has certified 
compliance with the approved development plan. 
(Ord. 2013-04-417, passed 4-2-13; Am. Ord. 2013-09-440, § 152.700.01, passed 9-3-13; Am. Ord. 
2014-12-488, passed 12-2-14; Am. Ord. 2015-07-530, passed 7-21-15) 
 
 
 
 
CODE AS WILL READ  

LARGE SCALE DEVELOPMENTS 

§ 152.095  APPLICABILITY. 
   (A)   This section is applicable to all Commercial, Industrial and Multi-Family Residential 
construction within the city. 
   (B)   A development plan is required to be submitted to the Planning Commission for all such 
development or building construction regardless of zone and for all additions to existing 
developments or buildings regardless of zone. 
   (C)   Single family and duplex residential construction is specifically exempted from this 
requirement. 
   (D)   (1)   Examples of facilities or construction covered, but not limited to: 
      (2)   New commercial, industrial, or civic development and building construction. 
   (E)   (1)   Additions or improvements to existing buildings or developments that increase the overall 
square footage of the current structure(s) or development by more than 50%, not to exceed 3,999 
square feet. 
      (2)   The revision of land use that results in the need to access to public streets or utilities. 
   (F)   No building permit shall be issued and no temporary or permanent connection to utilities shall 
be allowed until the development plan has been approved as set forth in this subchapter. No 
permanent connection to utilities shall be allowed until the Building Official has certified compliance 
with the approved development plan. 
(Ord. 2013-04-417, passed 4-2-13; Am. Ord. 2013-09-440, § 152.700.01, passed 9-3-13; Am. Ord. 
2014-12-488, passed 12-2-14; Am. Ord. 2015-07-530, passed 7-21-15) 
 
 
 
 
 

javascript:void(0)
javascript:void(0)


 

C -20 
 

• Update Code 152-097 
STAFF ANALYSIS- These changes are for clarification.  
 

CURRENT CODE SHOWING ADJUSTMENTS   
152.097  APPLICATION FOR APPROVAL. 
   (A)   Development plans are to be submitted to the Planning Office pursuant to the Tontitown 
development calendar and shall be reviewed upon their individual merits upon specific application of 
the developer. 
   (B)   The development plans shall comply with §§ 152.115 through 152.117. 
   (C)   The Planning Commission shall be permitted (upon review and approval by city engineer and 
city planner) to waive certain requirements of the plat and plan requirements, depending on the size 
and complexity of the building or development and upon the impact which the building or 
development may have on the Master Street Plan, zoning ordinance, and the Land Use Plan or any 
other published, current or future, plans for the city. 
   (D)   Unless given a waiver under division (C) above the application for approval must contain the 
following at a minimum to be considered: 
      (1)   Application. Complete the application provided by the Planning Official Clerk. 
      (2)   Fee. Payment of the fee as indicated on the application. 
      (3)   Plans. The number of copies of development plans and landscaping plans as identified on 
the application. All appropriate items as required by §§ 152.115 through 152.117. 
      (4)   Deed. Copy of land deed showing ownership of property. 
      (5)   Submittal to other departments. The developer shall submit to the Planning Commission and 
representatives for the water, sewer and electrical consultants or agencies, as required by the 
Planning Commission, sufficient copies of the development plan drawn to scale. The plan shall be 
submitted containing a development plan, landscape or planting plan, utility plan, detail sheet and 
erosion control plans, grading and drainage plans, and any other information required by the Planning 
Commission. 
(Ord. 2013-04-417, passed 4-2-13; Am. Ord. 2013-09-440, § 152.700.03, passed 9-3-13) 
 
CODE AS WILL READ  
152.097  APPLICATION FOR APPROVAL. 
   (A)   Development plans are to be submitted to the Planning Office pursuant to the Tontitown 
development calendar and shall be reviewed upon their individual merits upon specific application of 
the developer. 
   (B)   The development plans shall comply with §§ 152.115 through 152.117. 
   (C)   The Planning Commission shall be permitted (upon review and approval by city engineer and 
city planner) to waive certain requirements of the plat and plan requirements, depending on the size 
and complexity of the building or development and upon the impact which the building or 
development may have on the Master Street Plan, zoning ordinance, and the Land Use Plan or any 
other published, current or future, plans for the city. 
   (D)   Unless given a waiver under division (C) above the application for approval must contain the 
following at a minimum to be considered: 
      (1)   Application. Complete the application provided by the Planning Official. 
      (2)   Fee. Payment of the fee as indicated on the application. 
      (3)   Plans. The number of copies of development plans and landscaping plans as identified on 
the application. All appropriate items as required by §§ 152.115 through 152.117. 
      (4)   Deed. Copy of land deed showing ownership of property. 
      (5)   Submittal to other departments. The developer shall submit to the Planning Commission and 
representatives for the water, sewer and electrical consultants or agencies, as required by the 
Planning Commission, sufficient copies of the development plan drawn to scale. The plan shall be 
submitted containing a development plan, landscape or planting plan, utility plan, detail sheet and 
erosion control plans, grading and drainage plans, and any other information required by the Planning 
Commission. 
(Ord. 2013-04-417, passed 4-2-13; Am. Ord. 2013-09-440, § 152.700.03, passed 9-3-13) 
 
 
 
 

http://library.amlegal.com/nxt/gateway.dll?f=jumplink$jumplink_x=Advanced$jumplink_vpc=first$jumplink_xsl=querylink.xsl$jumplink_sel=title;path;content-type;home-title;item-bookmark$jumplink_d=arkansas(tontitown_ar)$jumplink_q=%5bfield%20folio-destination-name:%27152.115%27%5d$jumplink_md=target-id=JD_152.115
http://library.amlegal.com/nxt/gateway.dll?f=jumplink$jumplink_x=Advanced$jumplink_vpc=first$jumplink_xsl=querylink.xsl$jumplink_sel=title;path;content-type;home-title;item-bookmark$jumplink_d=arkansas(tontitown_ar)$jumplink_q=%5bfield%20folio-destination-name:%27152.117%27%5d$jumplink_md=target-id=JD_152.117
http://library.amlegal.com/nxt/gateway.dll?f=jumplink$jumplink_x=Advanced$jumplink_vpc=first$jumplink_xsl=querylink.xsl$jumplink_sel=title;path;content-type;home-title;item-bookmark$jumplink_d=arkansas(tontitown_ar)$jumplink_q=%5bfield%20folio-destination-name:%27152.115%27%5d$jumplink_md=target-id=JD_152.115
http://library.amlegal.com/nxt/gateway.dll?f=jumplink$jumplink_x=Advanced$jumplink_vpc=first$jumplink_xsl=querylink.xsl$jumplink_sel=title;path;content-type;home-title;item-bookmark$jumplink_d=arkansas(tontitown_ar)$jumplink_q=%5bfield%20folio-destination-name:%27152.117%27%5d$jumplink_md=target-id=JD_152.117
http://library.amlegal.com/nxt/gateway.dll?f=jumplink$jumplink_x=Advanced$jumplink_vpc=first$jumplink_xsl=querylink.xsl$jumplink_sel=title;path;content-type;home-title;item-bookmark$jumplink_d=arkansas(tontitown_ar)$jumplink_q=%5bfield%20folio-destination-name:%27152.115%27%5d$jumplink_md=target-id=JD_152.115
http://library.amlegal.com/nxt/gateway.dll?f=jumplink$jumplink_x=Advanced$jumplink_vpc=first$jumplink_xsl=querylink.xsl$jumplink_sel=title;path;content-type;home-title;item-bookmark$jumplink_d=arkansas(tontitown_ar)$jumplink_q=%5bfield%20folio-destination-name:%27152.117%27%5d$jumplink_md=target-id=JD_152.117
http://library.amlegal.com/nxt/gateway.dll?f=jumplink$jumplink_x=Advanced$jumplink_vpc=first$jumplink_xsl=querylink.xsl$jumplink_sel=title;path;content-type;home-title;item-bookmark$jumplink_d=arkansas(tontitown_ar)$jumplink_q=%5bfield%20folio-destination-name:%27152.115%27%5d$jumplink_md=target-id=JD_152.115
http://library.amlegal.com/nxt/gateway.dll?f=jumplink$jumplink_x=Advanced$jumplink_vpc=first$jumplink_xsl=querylink.xsl$jumplink_sel=title;path;content-type;home-title;item-bookmark$jumplink_d=arkansas(tontitown_ar)$jumplink_q=%5bfield%20folio-destination-name:%27152.117%27%5d$jumplink_md=target-id=JD_152.117


 

C -21 
 

• Update Code 152-098 
STAFF ANALYSIS- These changes are for clarification.  

 
CURRENT CODE SHOWING ADJUSTMENTS   
152.098  REVIEW AND APPROVAL. 
   (A)   Administrative review. 
      (1)   Applicability. The Planning Official/City Engineer shall administratively review: 
         (a)   Residential. Any residential development not exceeding two family units. 
      (2)   Action. Within 30 days of receipt of the complete large scale development plans by the 
Planning Commission, the Commission shall recommend for approval, approval with conditions, or 
disapproval of the plans. If the Planning Commission recommends, a signed copy of plan will be 
forwarded to the developer. If the plans are approved with conditions, the conditions shall be set forth 
in minutes of the Planning Commission meeting. If revised plans and proof of performance are not 
provided to the Planning Commission within 14 days of Planning Commission approval or their action 
is revoked. If the plans are disapproved, the reasons for such action shall be reduced to written form 
and supplied to the developer. 
      (3)   Additional review. If the Planning Commission determines that there is a necessity of 
transmitting the plans to outside sources for additional comment or in-depth study, he or she shall 
notify the developer in writing within the 14-day period that a decision will not be made within the 14-
day period, what the reasons are for the delay and the date at which a decision can be expected. A 
copy of the letter shall be sent the Chairman of the Tontitown Planning Commission. If the developer 
objects to such an extension, the objection shall be heard as a priority item at the next regular 
Planning Commission meeting. 
      (4)   Approval signatures. All approvals to any development plan shall bear the signature of the 
Chairman of the Planning Commission upon the development plan. 
   (B)   Planning Commission action. All developments shall be submitted to the Planning 
Commission, which shall approve, approve with conditions, or disapprove the submitted plan. The 
Planning Commission is required to take such action within 45 days of submission unless the 
applicant agrees to a postponement. All Planning Commission approvals to any development plan 
shall be signified by the signature on the development plan of the Chairman of the Planning 
Commission. 
(Ord. 2013-04-417, passed 4-2-13; Am. Ord. 2013-09-440, § 152.700.04, passed 9-3-13) 
 
 
 
 
CODE AS WILL READ  
152.098  REVIEW AND APPROVAL. 
   (A)   Administrative review. 
      (1)   Applicability. The Planning Official/City Engineer shall administratively review: 
         (a)   Residential. Any residential development not exceeding two family units. 
      (2)   Action. Within 30 days of receipt of the complete large scale development plans by the 
Planning Commission, the Commission shall recommend for approval, approval with conditions, or 
disapproval of the plans. If the Planning Commission recommends, a signed copy of plan will be 
forwarded to the developer. If the plans are approved with conditions, the conditions shall be set forth 
in minutes of the Planning Commission meeting. If revised plans and proof of performance are not 
provided to the Planning Commission within 14 days of Planning Commission approval or their action 
is revoked. If the plans are disapproved, the reasons for such action shall be reduced to written form 
and supplied to the developer. 
      (3)   Additional review. If the Planning Commission determines that there is a necessity of 
transmitting the plans to outside sources for additional comment or in-depth study, he or she shall 
notify the developer in writing within the 14-day period that a decision will not be made within the 14-
day period, what the reasons are for the delay and the date at which a decision can be expected. A 
copy of the letter shall be sent the Chairman of the Tontitown Planning Commission. If the developer 
objects to such an extension, the objection shall be heard as a priority item at the next regular 
Planning Commission meeting. 
      (4)   Approval signatures. All approvals to any development plan shall bear the signature of the 
Chairman of the Planning Commission upon the development plan. 



 

C -22 
 

   (B)   Planning Commission action. All developments shall be submitted to the Planning 
Commission, which shall approve, approve with conditions, or disapprove the submitted plan. The 
Planning Commission is required to take such action within 45 days of submission unless the 
applicant agrees to a postponement. All Planning Commission approvals to any development plan 
shall be signified by the signature on the development plan of the Chairman of the Planning 
Commission. 
(Ord. 2013-04-417, passed 4-2-13; Am. Ord. 2013-09-440, § 152.700.04, passed 9-3-13) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• Update Code 152-103 
STAFF ANALYSIS- These changes are for clarification.  
 

CURRENT CODE SHOWING ADJUSTMENTS    
152.103  APPLICATION FOR BUILDING PERMIT. 
   (A)   Upon approval or conditional approval of the large scale development plan, the applicant may 
submit an application for a building permit. The applicant shall provide the following documents prior 
to issuance of the building permit: 
      (1)   Letters of approval from AHTD ARDOT, State Department of Health, or any other 
department requiring state or local government entity approval; 
      (2)   A 36-month replacement guarantee from the supplier or property owner on all live plant 
material used in the landscape plan; and 
      (3)   Any large scale development that has over $20,000 of donated assets, as determined by the 
engineer of record that is to be dedicated to the city shall provide a maintenance letter of credit, bond, 
or cash deposit in accordance with the requirements in § 152.031 and a warranty in accordance with 
the requirements in § 152.030. 
(Ord. 2013-04-417, passed 4-2-13; Am. Ord. 2013-09-440, § 152.700.09, passed 9-3-13) 
 
 
CODE AS WILL READ  
 
152.103  APPLICATION FOR BUILDING PERMIT. 
   (A)   Upon approval or conditional approval of the large scale development plan, the applicant may 
submit an application for a building permit. The applicant shall provide the following documents prior 
to issuance of the building permit: 
      (1)   Letters of approval from ARDOT, State Department of Health, or any other department 
requiring state or local government entity approval; 
      (2)   A 36-month replacement guarantee from the supplier or property owner on all live plant 
material used in the landscape plan; and 
      (3)   Any large scale development that has over $20,000 of donated assets, as determined by the 
engineer of record that is to be dedicated to the city shall provide a maintenance letter of credit, bond, 
or cash deposit in accordance with the requirements in § 152.031 and a warranty in accordance with 
the requirements in § 152.030. 
(Ord. 2013-04-417, passed 4-2-13; Am. Ord. 2013-09-440, § 152.700.09, passed 9-3-13) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://library.amlegal.com/nxt/gateway.dll?f=jumplink$jumplink_x=Advanced$jumplink_vpc=first$jumplink_xsl=querylink.xsl$jumplink_sel=title;path;content-type;home-title;item-bookmark$jumplink_d=arkansas(tontitown_ar)$jumplink_q=%5bfield%20folio-destination-name:%27152.031%27%5d$jumplink_md=target-id=JD_152.031
http://library.amlegal.com/nxt/gateway.dll?f=jumplink$jumplink_x=Advanced$jumplink_vpc=first$jumplink_xsl=querylink.xsl$jumplink_sel=title;path;content-type;home-title;item-bookmark$jumplink_d=arkansas(tontitown_ar)$jumplink_q=%5bfield%20folio-destination-name:%27152.030%27%5d$jumplink_md=target-id=JD_152.030
http://library.amlegal.com/nxt/gateway.dll?f=jumplink$jumplink_x=Advanced$jumplink_vpc=first$jumplink_xsl=querylink.xsl$jumplink_sel=title;path;content-type;home-title;item-bookmark$jumplink_d=arkansas(tontitown_ar)$jumplink_q=%5bfield%20folio-destination-name:%27152.031%27%5d$jumplink_md=target-id=JD_152.031
http://library.amlegal.com/nxt/gateway.dll?f=jumplink$jumplink_x=Advanced$jumplink_vpc=first$jumplink_xsl=querylink.xsl$jumplink_sel=title;path;content-type;home-title;item-bookmark$jumplink_d=arkansas(tontitown_ar)$jumplink_q=%5bfield%20folio-destination-name:%27152.030%27%5d$jumplink_md=target-id=JD_152.030


 

C -23 
 

• Update Code 152-104 
STAFF ANALYSIS- These changes are for clarification.  

 
CURRENT CODE SHOWING ADJUSTMENTS   
152.104  FINAL INSPECTION. 
   (A)   Purpose. The purpose of the large scale development final inspection (development final) is to 
ensure the completed project complies with the Master Street Plan, subdivision ordinance, zoning 
ordinance, and any other, current or future, governing specifications and regulations of the city. 
   (B)   Process. 
      (1)   Certificate of completion. When site construction is complete, the owner/developer’s 
engineer-of-record shall submit a written statement certifying that all improvements and installations 
to the large scale development required for its approval under the terms of these regulations have 
been made, added, installed and are functional in accordance with city specifications. 
      (2)   Development final inspection (development final). The owner/developer’s engineer-of-record 
shall request in writing a development final inspection, addressed to the Planning Official Clerk. No 
inspection shall be passed until all items are completed in accordance with divisions (C) and (D) 
below. 
      (3)   Certificate of occupancy inspection (building final). A certificate of occupancy inspection shall 
be scheduled only after the project has passed the development final inspection. 
   (C)   Completed improvements for certificate of occupancy. The following improvements shall be 
complete prior to the city issuing the development final inspection and the owner/developer 
scheduling a certificate of occupancy inspection: 
      (1)   Streets. 
         (a)   All curb and gutter completed and backfilled. 
         (b)   Final layer of pavement in-place to required thickness and density. 
         (c)   Pedestrian accommodations constructed per approved plan including accessible ramps. 
         (d)   Low or ponding areas in public streets corrected. 
         (e)   Pavement markings complete and all necessary signage in place. 
      (2)   Drainage. 
         (a)   Drainage swales in-place, sodded or concrete-lined, properly dedicated with erosion control 
measures in place. 
         (b)   Detention/retention facilities to grade and draining properly. 
         (c)   Outlet structures, pilot channels, headwalls, flumes, and other appurtenances in place and 
constructed to approved plans and specifications. 
         (d)   Any needed off-site improvements or easements in place. 
         (e)   Sodding of detention/retention ponds complete and established. 
         (f)   Aeration facilities for retention ponds in place. 
         (g)   All drainage inlets, outlets, and conduits in proper location and constructed to approved 
plans and specifications and free of sediment or debris. 
         (h)   Required fencing of detention/retention ponds in place. 
         (i)   Final layer of drainage paving in-place as required by approved plan, including parking lots. 
      (3)   Water. 
         (a)   All water lines in place, pressure tested and bacteriological tested safe. 
         (b)   Meter pits or boxes and setters in place and operational on grade. 
         (c)   Tracer wires in place and tested. 
         (d)   Draft of record drawings submitted. 
         (e)   All valves operational adjusted to finish grade with concrete pad. 
         (f)   Passing test results for all backflow devices provided. 
         (g)   All backflow prevention devices installed properly and functional. 
      (4)   Sewer. 
         (a)   All sewer lines constructed to grade. 
         (b)   Mandrel and pressure tests complete. 
         (c)   Perform video inspection and discrepancies repaired and re-inspected. 
         (d)   All manholes complete to required elevations and vacuum tested. 
         (e)   Sewer services marked with T-posts in grass areas or mag nail with reflective disc if 
service is located under pavement. 
         (f)   Lift stations operational. 
         (g)   Tracer wires installed on all sewer lines and force mains and tested. 



 

C -24 
 

         (h)   Lift station alarm deposit submitted. 
         (i)   Lift station extra pump delivered. 
         (j)   Draft of record drawings submitted. 
      (5)   Fire. 
         (a)   All hydrants and valves in-place, accessible, and operational (facing street). 
         (b)   Fire lanes marked. 
         (c)   Building addressed (temporary). 
         (d)   Fire flow tests. 
      (6)   Planning. 
         (a)   Final grades achieved. 
         (b)   Seeding and sodding in place. 
         (c)   ADA requirements met. 
         (d)   Landscaping installed when scheduling a development final inspection between March 2 to 
July 14 and September 16 to November 30. Parking paved and marked. 
         (e)   Dumpsters screened. 
   (D)   Exceptions for temporary certificate of occupancy. The city may schedule a certificate of 
occupancy inspection to issue a temporary certificate of occupancy if the items in division (C) above 
are complete, but any of the following items are incomplete: 
      (1)   Streets. 
         (a)   Unacceptable curb sections on city streets corrected. 
         (b)   Joints in concrete pavement and curb and gutter cleaned and caulked. 
      (2)   Drainage. 
         (a)   Cosmetic work (finish grout, clean out boxes and pipes). 
         (b)   Final record drawings submitted. 
      (3)   Water. 
         (a)   Hydrants painted, as directed by the Water Department. 
         (b)   Meter tiles adjusted to grade. 
         (c)   Meter setters adjusted to grade. 
         (d)   Valve stacks adjusted to grade. 
         (e)   Concrete valve operator pads installed and grouted. 
         (f)   Final record drawings submitted. 
      (4)   Sewer. 
         (a)   Cosmetic work complete. 
         (b)   Final as-built drawings submitted. 
      (5)   Fire. Building addressed (permanently). 
      (6)   Planting. Landscaping installed when scheduling a development final inspection between 
December 1 to March 1 and July 15 to September 15 if the climate and weather delay completion. 
(Ord. 2013-04-417, passed 4-2-13; Am. Ord. 2013-09-440, § 152.700.10, passed 9-3-13; Am. Ord. 
2014-12-488, passed 12-2-14) 
 
CODE AS WILL READ  
 
152.104  FINAL INSPECTION. 
   (A)   Purpose. The purpose of the large scale development final inspection (development final) is to 
ensure the completed project complies with the Master Street Plan, subdivision ordinance, zoning 
ordinance, and any other, current or future, governing specifications and regulations of the city. 
   (B)   Process. 
      (1)   Certificate of completion. When site construction is complete, the owner/developer’s 
engineer-of-record shall submit a written statement certifying that all improvements and installations 
to the large scale development required for its approval under the terms of these regulations have 
been made, added, installed and are functional in accordance with city specifications. 
      (2)   Development final inspection (development final). The owner/developer’s engineer-of-record 
shall request in writing a development final inspection, addressed to the Planning Official. No 
inspection shall be passed until all items are completed in accordance with divisions (C) and (D) 
below. 
      (3)   Certificate of occupancy inspection (building final). A certificate of occupancy inspection shall 
be scheduled only after the project has passed the development final inspection. 
   (C)   Completed improvements for certificate of occupancy. The following improvements shall be 



 

C -25 
 

complete prior to the city issuing the development final inspection and the owner/developer 
scheduling a certificate of occupancy inspection: 
      (1)   Streets. 
         (a)   All curb and gutter completed and backfilled. 
         (b)   Final layer of pavement in-place to required thickness and density. 
         (c)   Pedestrian accommodations constructed per approved plan including accessible ramps. 
         (d)   Low or ponding areas in public streets corrected. 
         (e)   Pavement markings complete and all necessary signage in place. 
      (2)   Drainage. 
         (a)   Drainage swales in-place, sodded or concrete-lined, properly dedicated with erosion control 
measures in place. 
         (b)   Detention/retention facilities to grade and draining properly. 
         (c)   Outlet structures, pilot channels, headwalls, flumes, and other appurtenances in place and 
constructed to approved plans and specifications. 
         (d)   Any needed off-site improvements or easements in place. 
         (e)   Sodding of detention/retention ponds complete and established. 
         (f)   Aeration facilities for retention ponds in place. 
         (g)   All drainage inlets, outlets, and conduits in proper location and constructed to approved 
plans and specifications and free of sediment or debris. 
         (h)   Required fencing of detention/retention ponds in place. 
         (i)   Final layer of drainage paving in-place as required by approved plan, including parking lots. 
      (3)   Water. 
         (a)   All water lines in place, pressure tested and bacteriological tested safe. 
         (b)   Meter pits or boxes and setters in place and operational on grade. 
         (c)   Tracer wires in place and tested. 
         (d)   Draft of record drawings submitted. 
         (e)   All valves operational adjusted to finish grade with concrete pad. 
         (f)   Passing test results for all backflow devices provided. 
         (g)   All backflow prevention devices installed properly and functional. 
      (4)   Sewer. 
         (a)   All sewer lines constructed to grade. 
         (b)   Mandrel and pressure tests complete. 
         (c)   Perform video inspection and discrepancies repaired and re-inspected. 
         (d)   All manholes complete to required elevations and vacuum tested. 
         (e)   Sewer services marked with T-posts in grass areas or mag nail with reflective disc if 
service is located under pavement. 
         (f)   Lift stations operational. 
         (g)   Tracer wires installed on all sewer lines and force mains and tested. 
         (h)   Lift station alarm deposit submitted. 
         (i)   Lift station extra pump delivered. 
         (j)   Draft of record drawings submitted. 
      (5)   Fire. 
         (a)   All hydrants and valves in-place, accessible, and operational (facing street). 
         (b)   Fire lanes marked. 
         (c)   Building addressed (temporary). 
         (d)   Fire flow tests. 
      (6)   Planning. 
         (a)   Final grades achieved. 
         (b)   Seeding and sodding in place. 
         (c)   ADA requirements met. 
         (d)   Landscaping installed when scheduling a development final inspection between March 2 to 
July 14 and September 16 to November 30. Parking paved and marked. 
         (e)   Dumpsters screened. 
   (D)   Exceptions for temporary certificate of occupancy. The city may schedule a certificate of 
occupancy inspection to issue a temporary certificate of occupancy if the items in division (C) above 
are complete, but any of the following items are incomplete: 
      (1)   Streets. 
         (a)   Unacceptable curb sections on city streets corrected. 



 

C -26 
 

         (b)   Joints in concrete pavement and curb and gutter cleaned and caulked. 
      (2)   Drainage. 
         (a)   Cosmetic work (finish grout, clean out boxes and pipes). 
         (b)   Final record drawings submitted. 
      (3)   Water. 
         (a)   Hydrants painted, as directed by the Water Department. 
         (b)   Meter tiles adjusted to grade. 
         (c)   Meter setters adjusted to grade. 
         (d)   Valve stacks adjusted to grade. 
         (e)   Concrete valve operator pads installed and grouted. 
         (f)   Final record drawings submitted. 
      (4)   Sewer. 
         (a)   Cosmetic work complete. 
         (b)   Final as-built drawings submitted. 
      (5)   Fire. Building addressed (permanently). 
      (6)   Planting. Landscaping installed when scheduling a development final inspection between 
December 1 to March 1 and July 15 to September 15 if the climate and weather delay completion. 
(Ord. 2013-04-417, passed 4-2-13; Am. Ord. 2013-09-440, § 152.700.10, passed 9-3-13; Am. Ord. 
2014-12-488, passed 12-2-14) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

C -27 
 

• Update Code 152-144 
STAFF ANALYSIS- These changes are to reflect allowable policy already in place 

 
CURRENT CODE SHOWING ADJUSTMENTS   
152.144  STREETS. 
   (A)   Standard street specifications. All streets shall be constructed in conformance with the 
requirements of the city’s current adopted standard specifications for streets. 
   (B)   Right-of-way dedication. Subdivisions and large-scale developments shall dedicate sufficient 
right-of-way to bring those streets which the Master Street Plan shows to abut or intersect the 
development into conformance with the right-of-way requirements of the Master Street Plan for said 
streets; provided the Planning Commission may recommend a lesser dedication in the event of undue 
hardship or practical difficulties. Such lesser dedication shall be subject to approval by the City 
Council. 
   (C)   Coordination. The street system of a proposed subdivision shall be designed to coordinate 
with existing, proposed, and planned street outside of the subdivision as provided in this section. 
   (D)   Connectivity. Local and residential streets shall connect with surrounding streets to permit the 
safe and convenient movement of traffic between residential neighborhoods or facilitate emergency 
access and evacuation, but such connections shall not be permitted where the effect would be to 
encourage the use of such streets by substantial through traffic. 
      (1)   Gated communities. To ensure public safety with easy access to residential neighborhoods 
by police, fire and ambulance services and to maintain neighborhood connectivity as described 
above, gated communities are prohibited. 
         (a)   In cases where site conditions do not allow for adequate connectivity, a waiver may be 
requested in accordance with § 152.026. The waiver shall be reviewed based on the following criteria: 
            1.   The development is adjacent to developed land that does not provide locations for 
connection of the street system. 
            2.   The development is adjacent to topography with slopes greater than 17%. 
            3.   The property does not include a collector, minor or principal arterial shown on the Master 
Street Plan. 
   (E)   Street stubs. Wherever a proposed development abuts un-platted land or a future development 
phase of the same development, street stubs shall be provided as deemed necessary by the 
Planning Commission to provide access to abutting properties or to logically extend the street system 
into the surrounding area. All street stubs shall be provided with temporary turn-around or cul-de-sacs 
unless specifically exempted by the City Engineer or Planning Commission, and the restoration and 
extension of the street shall be the responsibility of any future developer of the abutting land. 
   (F)   Street intersections. Street intersections shall be designed to ensure safety. Because steep 
grades at intersections reduce sight distances and hinder vehicle control, street grades shall be 
flattened out within 100 feet of intersections according to AASHTO gemotric design guidelines for 
highways and city streets. 
   (G)   Additional safeguards. These requirements shall be considered minimums, and where 
deemed necessary by the Planning Commission for the interest of public health, safety, and welfare, 
additional safeguards may be required. 
   (H)   Residential street lights. 
      (1)   Public streets. Developers of all new residential subdivisions with public streets shall select 
either (a) the standard street light option, or (b) an upgraded street light option. 
         (a)   Standard street light option. 
            1.   Description. The standard streetlight meets IESNA’s (Illuminating Engineering Society of 
North America) definition of “cutoff” and is a light fixture of traditional styling. Specifications for 
standard street light fixtures, as amended, are on file at the servicing Electric Department. 
            2.   Developer responsibility. The developer shall share the cost of the standard fixture with 
the City of Tontitown. The developer shall provide the one and one-half inch conduit raceway, surface 
mount foundation and anchor system, as specified by the servicing electric provider. 
         (b)   Upgraded street light option. 
            1.   Description. The decorative street lights are cutoff fixtures of traditional or period styling. 
Specifications for upgraded street light luminaires and poles, as amended, are on file at the Tontitown 
Planning Department. 
            2.   Private streets. The developer of new subdivisions that have private streets shall 
contribute 100% of the cost for a standard street light fixture, as described in division (H)(1)(a)1., or 

http://library.amlegal.com/nxt/gateway.dll?f=jumplink$jumplink_x=Advanced$jumplink_vpc=first$jumplink_xsl=querylink.xsl$jumplink_sel=title;path;content-type;home-title;item-bookmark$jumplink_d=arkansas(tontitown_ar)$jumplink_q=%5bfield%20folio-destination-name:%27152.026%27%5d$jumplink_md=target-id=JD_152.026


 

C -28 
 

upgraded street light fixture as described in division (H)(1)(b)1. The developer and/or property owners 
association shall be responsible for the cost of electrical power service and ongoing maintenance and 
upkeep of the fixtures. The city shall bear no responsibility for street lights located on private streets. 
            3.   Gas street light fixtures. Developers may choose to use a gas operated street light fixture. 
In such instances, the developer shall supply to the Planning Department a proposal that includes 
illustrations of the fixtures and data showing that illumination is a minimum of 2,700 lumens per 
fixture. The low lumen values characteristic of gas light fixtures could dictate that more fixtures and 
closer placements of fixtures are necessary to assure adequate roadway safety and security as 
determined by the city. The developer and/or the property owners association shall be responsible for 
the cost of the gas service and ongoing maintenance and upkeep of the fixtures. The city shall bear 
no responsibility for gas fixtures. 
            4.   Existing non-standard street light fixtures. Non-standard street light fixtures existing prior 
to adoption of this chapter may continue. If the non-standard street light is damaged, two options are 
available: 
               (a)   Repair. To use the same fixture, the homeowners’ association shall provide the 
replacement parts and labor for cost of repair. 
               (b)   Replacement. When a property owners’ association does not provide the replacement 
parts, the city shall remove the existing fixture and replace it with a street light fixture that most 
closely resembles and charge the property owners’ association for cost of parts and labor. 
            5.   Location and placement. The supplying electric utility provider  shall approve the location 
and placement of all types of street light fixtures. 
   (I)   Commercial street lights. 
      (1)   Public streets. Developers of all new commercial subdivisions that contain public streets 
within the development or that front a public street shall select either (a) the standard commercial 
street light option, or (b) if the subdivision is served by underground electric utilities, the upgraded 
commercial street light option. 
         (a)   Standard commercial street light option. 
            1.   Description. The standard commercial street light is a 400 watt, High Pressure Sodium 
Cobra head style installed on a wood pole. The standard commercial street light is serviced by 
overhead power lines and shall not be installed for developments where all utilities are located 
underground. 
         (b)   Upgraded commercial street light option. 
            1.   Description. The upgraded commercial street lights are 250 watt, High Pressure Sodium 
acorn style fixtures installed on a cast iron/steel pole that meets the IESNA definition of a “cutoff” 
fixture. The upgraded commercial street light is serviced by underground power lines. This option 
shall only be an option for developments that (i) front on a street that is identified as a principal 
arterial, minor arterial, or a collector street on the city’s current Master Street Plan and, (2) locate all 
utilities underground. 
            2.   Developer responsibility. The developer shall contribute the cost of the upgraded 
commercial street light and pole; provide the surface mount foundation and anchor system; and 
provide the one and one-half inch conduit raceway, as specified by the servicing electric provider. 
      (2)   Private streets. The developer of new commercial developments that have private streets 
shall contribute 100% of the cost for either the standard commercial street light fixture or the 
upgraded commercial street light fixture, whichever is selected by the developer. The developer 
and/or property owners’ association shall be responsible for the cost of electrical power service and 
ongoing maintenance and upkeep of the fixtures. The city shall bear no responsibility for street lights 
located on private streets. 
      (3)   Gas street light fixtures. Gas operated commercial street light fixtures are prohibited on 
principal arterial, minor arterial, or collector streets as designated on the city’s current Master Street 
Plan. 
      (4)   Location and placement. The local electric utility shall approve the location and placement of 
all types of street light fixtures. 
   (J)   Cul-de-sacs. Cul-de-sacs shall be no longer than 660 feet. 
   (K)   Traffic calming. The following regulations apply to all new residential and local streets: 
      (1)   Purpose. The purpose of traffic calming regulations is to design new residential and local 
streets in a manner that improves road safety through speed and volume reduction; which in turn can 
improve neighborhood livability and provide opportunities for landscaping and aesthetic 
improvements. 



 

C -29 
 

      (2)   Design speed. Local and residential streets shall be designed to encourage and maintain 
85th percentile speeds in the 25 to 30 mph range. 
      (3)   Speed control points. The maximum road length between speed control points shall be 660 
feet. Speed control points are considered any one of the following: 
         (a)   Warranted stop sign. A stop sign shall be warranted at the intersection of a local or 
residential street and a collector or arterial street. A stop sign is not warranted at intersections 
between local and/or residential streets. 
         (b)   Horizontal curve. Curves serving as speed control points shall have a centerline radius 
between 90 and 120 feet. 
         (c)   Traffic calming device. A traffic calming device is a physical element of the street design 
that compels drivers to slow down. Recommended traffic calming devices include traffic circles, 
chicanes, center island narrowing, speed tables, intersection bulb-outs, and mid-block chokers. 
      (4)   Preferred methods. The following traffic reducing techniques are encouraged when designing 
streets for the established design speed: 
         (a)   Curvilinear street form, while maintaining a grid pattern. 
         (b)   T-streets or three-way intersections. 
         (c)   Entry treatments. 
         (d)   Short block lengths. 
         (e)   Tree-lined streets. Street trees spaced at a distance of 25 to 35 feet apart are encouraged. 
(Ord. 2013-04-417, passed 4-2-13; Am. Ord. 2013-09-440, § 152.1000.5, passed 9-3-13) 
 
 
CODE AS WILL READ 
152.144  STREETS. 
   (A)   Standard street specifications. All streets shall be constructed in conformance with the 
requirements of the city’s current adopted standard specifications for streets. 
   (B)   Right-of-way dedication. Subdivisions and large-scale developments shall dedicate sufficient 
right-of-way to bring those streets which the Master Street Plan shows to abut or intersect the 
development into conformance with the right-of-way requirements of the Master Street Plan for said 
streets; provided the Planning Commission may recommend a lesser dedication in the event of undue 
hardship or practical difficulties. Such lesser dedication shall be subject to approval by the City 
Council. 
   (C)   Coordination. The street system of a proposed subdivision shall be designed to coordinate 
with existing, proposed, and planned street outside of the subdivision as provided in this section. 
   (D)   Connectivity. Local and residential streets shall connect with surrounding streets to permit the 
safe and convenient movement of traffic between residential neighborhoods or facilitate emergency 
access and evacuation, but such connections shall not be permitted where the effect would be to 
encourage the use of such streets by substantial through traffic. 
      (1)   Gated communities. To ensure public safety with easy access to residential neighborhoods 
by police, fire and ambulance services and to maintain neighborhood connectivity as described 
above, gated communities are prohibited. 
         (a)   In cases where site conditions do not allow for adequate connectivity, a waiver may be 
requested in accordance with § 152.026. The waiver shall be reviewed based on the following criteria: 
            1.   The development is adjacent to developed land that does not provide locations for 
connection of the street system. 
            2.   The development is adjacent to topography with slopes greater than 17%. 
            3.   The property does not include a collector, minor or principal arterial shown on the Master 
Street Plan. 
   (E)   Street stubs. Wherever a proposed development abuts un-platted land or a future development 
phase of the same development, street stubs shall be provided as deemed necessary by the 
Planning Commission to provide access to abutting properties or to logically extend the street system 
into the surrounding area. All street stubs shall be provided with temporary turn-around or cul-de-sacs 
unless specifically exempted by the City Engineer or Planning Commission, and the restoration and 
extension of the street shall be the responsibility of any future developer of the abutting land. 
   (F)   Street intersections. Street intersections shall be designed to ensure safety. Because steep 
grades at intersections reduce sight distances and hinder vehicle control, street grades shall be 
flattened out within 100 feet of intersections according to AASHTO gemotric design guidelines for 
highways and city streets. 

http://library.amlegal.com/nxt/gateway.dll?f=jumplink$jumplink_x=Advanced$jumplink_vpc=first$jumplink_xsl=querylink.xsl$jumplink_sel=title;path;content-type;home-title;item-bookmark$jumplink_d=arkansas(tontitown_ar)$jumplink_q=%5bfield%20folio-destination-name:%27152.026%27%5d$jumplink_md=target-id=JD_152.026


 

C -30 
 

   (G)   Additional safeguards. These requirements shall be considered minimums, and where 
deemed necessary by the Planning Commission for the interest of public health, safety, and welfare, 
additional safeguards may be required. 
   (H)   Residential street lights. 
      (1)   Public streets. Developers of all new residential subdivisions with public streets shall select 
either (a) the standard street light option, or (b) an upgraded street light option. 
         (a)   Standard street light option. 
            1.   Description. The standard streetlight meets IESNA’s (Illuminating Engineering Society of 
North America) definition of “cutoff” and is a light fixture of traditional styling. Specifications for 
standard street light fixtures, as amended, are on file at the servicing Electric Department. 
            2.   Developer responsibility. The developer shall share the cost of the standard fixture with 
the City of Tontitown. The developer shall provide the one and one-half inch conduit raceway, surface 
mount foundation and anchor system, as specified by the servicing electric provider. 
         (b)   Upgraded street light option. 
            1.   Description. The decorative street lights are cutoff fixtures of traditional or period styling. 
Specifications for upgraded street light luminaires and poles, as amended, are on file at the Tontitown 
Planning Department. 
            2.   Private streets. The developer of new subdivisions that have private streets shall 
contribute 100% of the cost for a standard street light fixture, as described in division (H)(1)(a)1., or 
upgraded street light fixture as described in division (H)(1)(b)1. The developer and/or property owners 
association shall be responsible for the cost of electrical power service and ongoing maintenance and 
upkeep of the fixtures. The city shall bear no responsibility for street lights located on private streets. 
            3.   Gas street light fixtures. Developers may choose to use a gas operated street light fixture. 
In such instances, the developer shall supply to the Planning Department a proposal that includes 
illustrations of the fixtures and data showing that illumination is a minimum of 2,700 lumens per 
fixture. The low lumen values characteristic of gas light fixtures could dictate that more fixtures and 
closer placements of fixtures are necessary to assure adequate roadway safety and security as 
determined by the city. The developer and/or the property owners association shall be responsible for 
the cost of the gas service and ongoing maintenance and upkeep of the fixtures. The city shall bear 
no responsibility for gas fixtures. 
            4.   Existing non-standard street light fixtures. Non-standard street light fixtures existing prior 
to adoption of this chapter may continue. If the non-standard street light is damaged, two options are 
available: 
               (a)   Repair. To use the same fixture, the homeowners’ association shall provide the 
replacement parts and labor for cost of repair. 
               (b)   Replacement. When a property owners’ association does not provide the replacement 
parts, the city shall remove the existing fixture and replace it with a street light fixture that most 
closely resembles and charge the property owners’ association for cost of parts and labor. 
            5.   Location and placement. The supplying electric utility provider  shall approve the location 
and placement of all types of street light fixtures. 
   (I)   Commercial street lights. 
      (1)   Public streets. Developers of all new commercial subdivisions that contain public streets 
within the development or that front a public street shall select either (a) the standard commercial 
street light option, or (b) if the subdivision is served by underground electric utilities, the upgraded 
commercial street light option. 
         (a)   Standard commercial street light option. 
            1.   Description. The standard commercial street light is a 400 watt, High Pressure Sodium 
Cobra head style installed on a wood pole. The standard commercial street light is serviced by 
overhead power lines and shall not be installed for developments where all utilities are located 
underground. 
         (b)   Upgraded commercial street light option. 
            1.   Description. The upgraded commercial street lights are 250 watt, High Pressure Sodium 
acorn style fixtures installed on a cast iron/steel pole that meets the IESNA definition of a “cutoff” 
fixture. The upgraded commercial street light is serviced by underground power lines. This option 
shall only be an option for developments that locate all utilities underground. 
            2.   Developer responsibility. The developer shall contribute the cost of the upgraded 
commercial street light and pole; provide the surface mount foundation and anchor system; and 
provide the one and one-half inch conduit raceway, as specified by the servicing electric provider. 



 

C -31 
 

      (2)   Private streets. The developer of new commercial developments that have private streets 
shall contribute 100% of the cost for either the standard commercial street light fixture or the 
upgraded commercial street light fixture, whichever is selected by the developer. The developer 
and/or property owners’ association shall be responsible for the cost of electrical power service and 
ongoing maintenance and upkeep of the fixtures. The city shall bear no responsibility for street lights 
located on private streets. 
      (3)   Gas street light fixtures. Gas operated commercial street light fixtures are prohibited on 
principal arterial, minor arterial, or collector streets as designated on the city’s current Master Street 
Plan. 
      (4)   Location and placement. The local electric utility shall approve the location and placement of 
all types of street light fixtures. 
   (J)   Cul-de-sacs. Cul-de-sacs shall be no longer than 660 feet. 
   (K)   Traffic calming. The following regulations apply to all new residential and local streets: 
      (1)   Purpose. The purpose of traffic calming regulations is to design new residential and local 
streets in a manner that improves road safety through speed and volume reduction; which in turn can 
improve neighborhood livability and provide opportunities for landscaping and aesthetic 
improvements. 
      (2)   Design speed. Local and residential streets shall be designed to encourage and maintain 
85th percentile speeds in the 25 to 30 mph range. 
      (3)   Speed control points. The maximum road length between speed control points shall be 660 
feet. Speed control points are considered any one of the following: 
         (a)   Warranted stop sign. A stop sign shall be warranted at the intersection of a local or 
residential street and a collector or arterial street. A stop sign is not warranted at intersections 
between local and/or residential streets. 
         (b)   Horizontal curve. Curves serving as speed control points shall have a centerline radius 
between 90 and 120 feet. 
         (c)   Traffic calming device. A traffic calming device is a physical element of the street design 
that compels drivers to slow down. Recommended traffic calming devices include traffic circles, 
chicanes, center island narrowing, speed tables, intersection bulb-outs, and mid-block chokers. 
      (4)   Preferred methods. The following traffic reducing techniques are encouraged when designing 
streets for the established design speed: 
         (a)   Curvilinear street form, while maintaining a grid pattern. 
         (b)   T-streets or three-way intersections. 
         (c)   Entry treatments. 
         (d)   Short block lengths. 
         (e)   Tree-lined streets. Street trees spaced at a distance of 25 to 35 feet apart are encouraged. 
(Ord. 2013-04-417, passed 4-2-13; Am. Ord. 2013-09-440, § 152.1000.5, passed 9-3-13) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

C -32 
 

CHAPTER 153- ZONING REGULATIONS 
 

• Add to Chapter 153 
STAFF ANALYSIS- This was a part of the Code before the last revision. It was left out and 
should be added back. 

  

OLD CODE - § 153.046  RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS. 
      (2)   Lot and area requirements. 
         (a)   Street frontage. Each lot in R-1 and R-2 zoning districts shall have a minimum street, or 
dedicated access easement frontage equal of 50 feet, except for lots fronting on cul-de-sac 
turnarounds and on curving street frontages, which must have no less than 35 feet of street frontage 
with the two side lot lines intersecting the street diverging until they are separated by the minimum 
required lot width at the building line. Each lot in the remaining zoning districts shall have a minimum 
of 35 feet of street, or dedicated access easement frontage. 
 
  
TO BE ADDED TO CURRENT CODE– STREET FRONTAGE-ACCESS EASEMENT 
 
Street frontage. Each lot in R-1 and R-2 zoning districts shall have a minimum street, or dedicated 
access easement frontage of 50 feet, except for lots fronting on cul-de-sac turnarounds and on 
curving street frontages, which must have no less than 35 feet of street frontage with the two side lot 
lines intersecting the street diverging until they are separated by the minimum required lot width at the 
building line. Each lot in the remaining zoning districts shall have a minimum of 35 feet of street, or 
dedicated access easement frontage. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

javascript:void(0)


 

C -33 
 

• Farm Animal and Hobby Chicken Information – Add to Chapter 153 
STAFF ANALYSIS- This was a part of the Code before the last revision. It was left out and 
should be added back. 

 
TO BE ADDED TO CURRENT CODE– Add to Definitions Chapter 153: 
  
ANIMAL, FARM.  Any animal that customarily is raised in an agricultural, rather than urban, 
environment, for profit on farms and has the potential of causing a nuisance if not properly 
maintained, including, but not limited to chickens, pigs, sheep, goats, horses, cattle, llamas, emus, 
ostriches, donkeys and mules. This definition does not include “hobby chicken” which is separately 
defined. 
CHICKEN, HOBBY.  Fowl that are being raised on non-agricultural lots as a hobby instead of as a 
farming operation. HOBBY CHICKENS are used for the production of eggs, garden fertilizer, and 
meat production or as pets for non-commercial purposes. 
 
NEW - Add to Sections Chapter 153 
 
§ 153.xxx  ANIMAL, FARM 
Animals and fowls, where permitted in a district, shall be kept only in accordance with this code. 
Proponents of such uses shall show that adequate measures will be taken to prevent odor, dust, 
noise or drainage from becoming a nuisance to uses on other properties. No incineration of animal 
refuse shall be permitted on the premises. In a residential district, no more than four farm, domestic 
or household animals over the age of four months shall be kept, maintained or harbored. However, in 
a residential district, the temporary keeping, maintaining, or harboring of more than four such animals 
may be allowed in cases of rescue, foster care, or temporary sheltering. Said temporary keeping, 
maintaining, or harboring of more than four animals shall be limited to 30 days. 

(A)   All animals kept in residential areas, as allowed by code section 153.051 & 153-054  are 
intended to be clean, odor free, quiet, non-obtrusive, and healthy additions to a residential 
area for purposes of enjoyment, education, or training by the property owner, occupants, and 
visitors. However, grazing areas shall be required to have a suitable fence. A fencing plan 
shall be submitted if a conditional use application is required by § 153.046. Furthermore, it is 
required that any and all animals be provided with appropriate shelter and living conditions at 
all times. 
(B)   A minimum of one acre of undeveloped land is required to ensure adequate space for 
animals that require grazing. The number of animals allowed per acre may vary depending 
on the type of animals, the location and geography of the property, and the water and 
nutrients available to the animals. Therefore, we recommend owners of grazing animals such 
as, but not limited to, equine, cattle, sheep, goats, and fowl follow local extension office 
recommendations to ensure the health and safety of the animals, the owners, and the 
neighboring properties. 
 

§ 153.xxx  CHICKEN,  HOBBY    
   Hobby chickens allowed in permitted districts shall meet the following regulations: 
   (A)   Number permitted. No more than four hens shall be allowed for each single-family dwelling. No 
birds shall be allowed in multi-family complexes. 
   (B)   Roosters prohibited. No roosters shall be allowed. 
   (C)   Slaughter. There shall be no outside slaughtering of birds. 
   (D)   Placement of enclosures. All hen enclosures shall be placed at least 25 feet from neighboring 
dwellings and located in a rear or side yard. 
   (E)   Condition of enclosures. All enclosures must be kept in a neat and sanitary condition at all 
times and must be cleaned on a regular basis so as to prevent offensive odor. 
   (F)   Food containers. All food used for chickens shall be kept in a suitable container with a tight-
fitting cover so as to be inaccessible to rodents. 
   (G)   Applicability. These regulations are not intended to apply to indoor birds kept as pets, such as, 
but not limited to, parrots or parakeets, nor the lawful transportation of fowl through the corporate 
limits of the city. Neither shall they apply to poultry kept in areas of the city which are zoned A-1. 
 
 

http://library.amlegal.com/nxt/gateway.dll?f=jumplink$jumplink_x=Advanced$jumplink_vpc=first$jumplink_xsl=querylink.xsl$jumplink_sel=title;path;content-type;home-title;item-bookmark$jumplink_d=arkansas(tontitown_ar)$jumplink_q=%5bfield%20folio-destination-name:%27153.046%27%5d$jumplink_md=target-id=JD_153.046
http://library.amlegal.com/nxt/gateway.dll?f=jumplink$jumplink_x=Advanced$jumplink_vpc=first$jumplink_xsl=querylink.xsl$jumplink_sel=title;path;content-type;home-title;item-bookmark$jumplink_d=arkansas(tontitown_ar)$jumplink_q=%5bfield%20folio-destination-name:%27153.046%27%5d$jumplink_md=target-id=JD_153.046


 

C -34 
 

UPDATE SECTION –  
 

DIVISION 5. DISTRICT REGULATIONS  
 
Sec. 153-051. Agriculture and Residential Districts. 
 
General Description.   

Counting the agriculture district, which is considered to be a very low density single-family 
district, and acts to serve as a “holding” zone for subsequent higher density consideration, 
there are eight (8) districts designed to meet present and future housing needs; to protect the 
character of, and property values in, residential areas; to encourage a suitable environment 
for family life; and to provide choice in density, as well as in type of housing.  Five (5) of the 
districts are for low-density single-family uses, and are intended to be defined and protected 
from the encroachment of uses not performing a function necessary to the low density, 
residential environment.  One (1) district is intended for medium-density single-family uses, 
and one (1) exists for multi-family residential uses.  More specific descriptions of the 
residential districts are as follows and it is the intent and desire of the city that all zoned areas, 
be served by municipal water and sanitary sewer service. 

 (1) Agriculture District.  
The purpose of this district is to provide for a very low 
density single-family district, while helping preserve existing agricultural resources, and to 
guide the conversion of these lands to higher density residential use when appropriate.  
Agricultural areas should be protected for development by appropriate standards until they 
are well served by public facilities and services that will permit higher density residential 
development. 
(2) R-E, Estate Single-Family District.   
The purpose of this district is to accommodate single-family residential development on low 
density, large estate type lots. This zone is intended to help establish and preserve 
rural/estate character in certain areas of the city. 
(3) R-1, Single-Family Residential.   
The purpose of this district is to accommodate single-family residential uses on generously 
sized residential lots of at least one (1) acre. This zone is generally applied on the fringe of 
built-up areas of the city, and may act as a buffer to R-E zones. 

 (4) R-2, Single-Family Residential.   
This district is intended to provide single-family residential uses on moderately sized, low-
density lots of at least one-half (1/2) acre.   
(5) R-3, Single-Family Residential.   
This district is characterized by single-family residential development on medium-sized lots of 
at least 9,600 square feet, with density not exceeding 3 units/net acre, i.e. after dedications 
are made.  As with other residential zones, this district also serves as a buffer in providing for 
a step-down in intensity from higher to lower density residential and other types of 
development. It is the intent and desire of the city that R-3 zoned areas, which typically have 
smaller sized lots, be served by municipal water and sanitary sewer service.  
(6) R-3-L, Single Family Residential.    
This district is intended to provide single-family residential uses on moderately sized, low-
density lots of at least 14,520 square feet, one-third (1/3) acre. 
(7) R-MF Multi-Family Residential.   
This district is to provide for multi-family development, and is characterized by traditional 
apartment-type units in attached living complexes.  Congregate housing for the elderly is also 
anticipated in this zone.  Areas so classified must have all municipal services available.  The 
maximum density in this district is sixteen (16) dwelling units to the acre. 
(8) R-MH Manufactured Home/Mobile Home Residential.   
This district is to provide for replacement of manufactured home/mobile homes on individually 
owned lots. Areas so classified must have all municipal services available. A maximum 
density in this district is 1 unit per acre.  



 

C -35 
 

 
Uses Permitted.  ADD NEW SUB HEADING 

Uses permitted in the residential districts are set forth in the following table.  Where 
the letter “P” appears opposite a listed use and underneath a residential district, the 
use is permitted in that district “by right” subject to: (1) providing off-street parking 
and loading facilities as required by Section 153-101; (2) providing landscaping and 
screening as provided by Section 153-103; and (3), conformance with special 
conditions applying to certain uses as set forth in Division 8.  Only one (1) principal 
structure per lot shall be permitted in R-E, R-1, R-2,  R-3 and R-3L single-family 
districts.  
In addition to the accessory uses provided for in Division 7, an accessory structure 
may be permitted for sheltering a riding horse on a residentially zoned lot or parcel 
with a minimum area of two (2) acres, provided: (1) The structure is at least 100 feet 
from adjacent property lines; (2) No more than two (2) horses are kept and sheltered 
on the property; and (3) The stall area does not exceed 450 square feet.  In A 
districts, only one (1) principal dwelling structure per lot shall be permitted.   
 
Where the letter “C” appears instead of “P”, the use is permitted subject to acquiring 
a conditional use permit as set forth in Sections 153-061 thru 153-064.  Where 
neither “P” nor “C” appears, and “NP” appears in the table, the use is not permitted.  

 
Uses Not Permitted. Update and add NEW SUB HEADING 

When a use is proposed that is not listed in this chapter, the Building Official shall 
recommend the appropriate districts based on land uses that are similar in size, bulk, 
and traffic generation. If the applicant does not agree with this interpretation, he or 
she may appeal the interpretation to the Board of Zoning Adjustment. 

 
 
Add to Use Tables: Updates to table in section 153.051 
 

Use Table  

RESIDENTAIL DISTRICTS 
     

 
ZONING DISTRICTS 

RESIDENTIAL USES A RE R-1 R-2 R-3 R-3L R-MF R-MH 

Single-family-detached P P P P P P P NP 

Duplex, triplex, 4-plex    NP   NP   NP   NP NP  NP P   NP   

Emergency housing unit      C     C     C     C NP C  NP   NP 

Multi-family    NP   NP   NP   NP NP  NP P   NP 

Manufactured housing unit    NP   NP   NP   NP NP  NP P     P  

Manuf. housing, residential design    NP   NP     C   NP NP NP  P     P 

Manufactured housing park    NP   NP   NP   NP NP NP  C    C 

Group residential    NP   NP   NP   NP NP NP  C    NP 

                  
 

ZONING DISTRICTS 

CIVIC & COMMERCIAL USES A RE R-1 R-2 R-3 R-3L R-MF R-MH 

Airport or airstrip     C     C   NP   NP   NP NP   NP   NP 

Animal care, general     C    NP   NP   NP   NP NP   NP   NP 

Animal care, limited     C    NP   NP   NP   NP NP   NP   NP 



 

C -36 
 

Automated teller machine    NP    NP   NP   NP   NP NP     P   NP 

Bed and breakfast     C     C     C   NP   NP  NP   NP   NP 

Cemetery     C     C     C     C     C     C     C   NP 

Church     P     C     C     C     C     C     P   NP 

College or university     C    NP   NP   NP   NP   NP     P     NP 

Communication tower     C     C     C     C     C     C     C   NP 

Convenience store    NP    NP   NP   NP   NP   NP     C   NP 

Day care, limited (family home)     C    NP       C     C     C     C     P   NP 

Day care, general    NP    NP   NP   NP   NP   NP     C   NP 

Golf course     C     C     C     C     C     C    P    NP 

Government service     C     C     C     C     C     C    C    NP 

Hospital    NP    NP    NP     NP    NP    NP    C    NP 

Library     C     C     C     C     C     C     P    NP 

Medical services    NP    NP    NP    NP    NP    NP    C    NP 

Museum    NP    NP    NP    NP    NP    NP    C    NP 

Nursing home    NP    NP    NP    NP    NP    NP    C    NP 

Parks and recreation     P     C     C     C     C     C    P    NP 

Post office    NP    NP    NP    NP    NP    NP    C    NP 

Recreation/entertainment, indoor     C    NP    NP    NP    NP    NP   NP    NP 

Recreation/entertainment, outdoor     C    NP    NP    NP    NP    NP   NP    NP 

Safety services     C     C     C     C     C     C    P    NP 

School, elementary/middle & high     C     C     C     C     C     C    P    NP 

Utility, major     C     C     C     C     C     C   C     NP 

Utility, minor     P     P     P     P     P     P    P    NP 

Vocational school     C    NP    NP    NP    NP    NP    C    NP 

                  
 

ZONING DISTRICTS 

MANUFACTURING & EXTRACTIVE 
USES 

A RE R-1 R-2 R-3 R-3L R-MF R-MH 

Asphalt or concrete plant  NP    NP    NP    NP    NP NP    NP    NP 

Mining or quarrying   NP    NP    NP    NP    NP NP    NP    NP 

Sod farm     C    NP    NP    NP    NP NP    NP    NP 

Topsoil     C    NP    NP    NP    NP NP    NP    NP 

AGRICULTURAL USES   

Agriculture, animal     P*     C     C     C     C C    C   NP 

Agriculture, crop     P     P     P     P     C  C    C   NP 

Agriculture, product sales     P     C     C     C     C  C     C   NP 

Animal,Farm P P P P P P NP NP 

Chicken, Hobby P P P P P P NP NP 

* All concentrated feedlot operations for livestock shall be subject to conditional use approval. 
 
 
 



 

C -37 
 

Add to Use Tables: Updates to table in section 153.054 
 

Use Table 

Commercial & Industrial Districts 

 
Zoning Districts 

RESIDENTIAL USES C-1 C-2 I 

Single-family detached     C      C    C 

Duplex, triplex, 4-plex     C      C    C 

Loft apartment     C      C    C 

Multi-family     C      C    C 
 

Zoning Districts 
CIVIC AND 

COMMERCIAL USES 
C-1 C-2 I 

Airport or airstrip   NP   NP    C 

Animal care, general    C    P    C 

Animal care, limited    P    P   NP 

Auditorium or stadium   NP    C    C 

Automated teller machine    P    P    P 

Bank or financial institution    P    P    P 

Bed and breakfast    P    P   NP 

Car wash    C    P    P 

Cemetery    P    P    P 

Church    P       P    P 

College or university    P    P    P 

Communication tower    C    C    P 

Construction sales and service   NP    P    P 

Convenience store    P    P    C 

Day care, limited (family home)    P    P    C 

Day care, general    P    P    C 

Entertainment, adult NP C C 

Funeral home    C    P  NP 

Golf course    P    P  NP 

Government service    P    P    P 

Hospital    P    P  NP 

Hotel or motel NP P NP 

Library    P    P    P   

Medical service/office    P    P    P 

Museum    P    P    C 

Nursing home    P    P  NP 

Office, general    P    P    C 

Parking lot, commercial   NP    P    C 



 

C -38 
 

Parks and recreation    P    P    C 

Pawn shops   NP     P      C 

Post office    C    P    C 

Recreation/entertainment, indoor    C    P    C 

Recreation/entertainment, outdoor    C    P    C 

Recreational vehicle park   NP    P    P 

Restaurant, fast-food    C    P    P 

Restaurant, general    P    P    P 

Retail/service    C    P    C 

Safety services    P    P    P 

School, elementary/middle & high    P    P    P 

Service station    C    P     P 

Signs     *    *    * 

Utility, major    C    C    C 

Utility, minor    P    P    P 

Vehicle and equipment sales   NP    P     P 

Vehicle repair, general   NP    P    P 

Vehicle repair, limited    C    P    P 

Vocational school    C    P    P 

Warehouse, residential (mini) 
storage  

  NP    C     P 

INDUSTRIAL, MANUFACTURING & 
EXTRACTIVE USES 

C-1 C-2 I 

Asphalt or concrete plant    NP   NP    C  

Auto wrecking or salvage yard   NP   NP    C 

Basic industry   NP   NP    P 

Freight terminal   NP     C    P 

Manufacturing, general   NP   NP    P 

Manufacturing, limited   NP   NP      P 

Mining or quarrying    NP   NP     C 

Research services    C     C    P 

Warehousing   NP   NP    P 

Welding or machine shop   NP    C    P 

* The placements of all signs shall be in accordance with city code. 

 
 

 Zoning Districts 

Agricultural Uses C-1 C-2 I 

Agriculture, animal   NP    C    P 

Agriculture, crop    P    P    P 

Agriculture, farmers market    C    P    P 



 

C -39 
 

Agriculture, product sales   NP    C    P 

Animal, Farm NP NP NP 

Chicken, Hobby NP NP NP 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

•  Update 153.142 
STAFF ANALYSIS- This revision is for clarification 
 

CURRENT CODE SHOWING ADJUSTMENTS   
153.142  RESIDENTIAL ACCESSORY USES. 
   (A)   Residential accessory uses shall include the following accessory uses, activities, facilities, and 
structures: fences and walls; garages, carports, and off-street parking and loading areas; gardens; 
gates and guard houses; home occupations (subject to limitations and requirements of division (C) 
below); playhouses, patios, cabanas, porches, gazebos and household storage buildings; radio and 
television receiving antennas; recreational and play facilities for residents; storm and fallout shelters; 
and other necessary and customary uses determined to be appropriate, incidental, and subordinate 
to the principal use on the lot. 
   (B)   Home occupations permitted. 
      (1)   The home office or business is clearly secondary to the use of the dwelling as a residence 
and does not change the residential character or appearance of the dwelling or lot in any visible 
manner. 
      (2)   The work done in the home office or business creates no objectionable odor, noticeable 
vibration, or offensive noise that increases a level of ambient sound at the property lines. 
      (3)   The home office or business does not involve the external display of goods or services, and 
does not cause unsightly conditions or waste visible from off the property. 
      (4)   The home office or business does not cause interference with any type of communication 
signal reception in the vicinity. 
      (5)   Permitted home occupations shall not include the employment of any persons not residing on 
the premises in the performance of the occupation. 
      (6)   The home office or business sells no articles on the premises that are not produced on the 
premises. 
      (7)   A home occupation shall be carried on wholly within the principle residential structure. No 
home occupations shall be allowed in accessory buildings or garages. 
      (8)   The home office or business occupies no more than 10% of the total floor area of the 
residence. 
      (9)   There shall be no external alteration of the dwelling, nor storage of supplies or equipment 
outside. 
      (10)   Not more than one truck of not more than one and one-half ton capacity and no semi-
trailers, incidental to the home occupation, shall be kept on the premises, except as allowed by 
conditional use. 
      (11)   Customers may visit the site only during the hours of 8 a.m. to 8 p.m., and no more than six 
customers or clients may visit the site in any single day. 
      (12)   Parking to serve a home occupation shall be provided off-street, and no such parking shall 
be permitted in a required setback, other than in a driveway. In no event shall yard areas be 
converted to off-street parking to serve a home occupation. 
   (C)   Home occupations prohibited. Prohibited home occupations include, but are not limited to the 
following: 

(1)   Barber and beauty shops with more than one chair, and requiring any upgrade in 
electric service.  

(2)   Dispatch centers, where workers come to the site to be dispatched to other locations. 
      (3)   Commercial stables, kennels, and animal boarding and care facilities. 



 

C -40 
 

      (4)   Assembly or repair of large appliances. 
      (5)   Repair or assembly of vehicles or equipment with internal combustion engines, or any other 
work related to motor vehicles and their parts. 
   (D)   Garage sales. Garage sales, also commonly called rummage or yard sales, are permitted as 
accessory uses provided they meet the following requirements: 
      (1)   Each such sale shall be permitted by a approved garage sale application. 
      (2)   Each property address and/or person shall be limited to no more than four such sales per 
year. 
      (3)   Sales shall not last longer than three consecutive days. 
      (4)   Sales are conducted on the owner's property. Multiple family sales are permitted if they are 
held on the property of one of the participants. 
      (5)   Directional and advertising signs, not larger than nine square feet, shall be free standing; that 
is, they shall not be placed on traffic or official signs, utility poles or trees, and shall be removed 
promptly after completion of the sale. 
(Ord. 2017-05-635, passed 5-2-17) 
 
 
CODE AS WILL READ  
153.142  RESIDENTIAL ACCESSORY USES. 
   (A)   Residential accessory uses shall include the following accessory uses, activities, facilities, and 
structures: fences and walls; garages, carports, and off-street parking and loading areas; gardens; 
gates and guard houses; home occupations (subject to limitations and requirements of division (C) 
below); playhouses, patios, cabanas, porches, gazebos and household storage buildings; radio and 
television receiving antennas; recreational and play facilities for residents; storm and fallout shelters; 
and other necessary and customary uses determined to be appropriate, incidental, and subordinate 
to the principal use on the lot. 
   (B)   Home occupations permitted. 
      (1)   The home office or business is clearly secondary to the use of the dwelling as a residence 
and does not change the residential character or appearance of the dwelling or lot in any visible 
manner. 
      (2)   The work done in the home office or business creates no objectionable odor, noticeable 
vibration, or offensive noise that increases a level of ambient sound at the property lines. 
      (3)   The home office or business does not involve the external display of goods or services, and 
does not cause unsightly conditions or waste visible from off the property. 
      (4)   The home office or business does not cause interference with any type of communication 
signal reception in the vicinity. 
      (5)   Permitted home occupations shall not include the employment of any persons not residing on 
the premises in the performance of the occupation. 
      (6)   The home office or business sells no articles on the premises that are not produced on the 
premises. 
      (7)   The home office or business occupies no more than 10% of the total floor area of the 
residence. 
     (8)   There shall be no external alteration of the dwelling, nor storage of supplies or equipment 
outside. 
      (9)   Not more than one truck of not more than one and one-half ton capacity and no semi-trailers, 
incidental to the home occupation, shall be kept on the premises, except as allowed by conditional 
use. 
      (10)   Customers may visit the site only during the hours of 8 a.m. to 8 p.m., and no more than six 
customers or clients may visit the site in any single day. 
      (11)   Parking to serve a home occupation shall be provided off-street, and no such parking shall 
be permitted in a required setback, other than in a driveway. In no event shall yard areas be 
converted to off-street parking to serve a home occupation. 
   (C)   Home occupations prohibited. Prohibited home occupations include, but are not limited to the 
following: 

(1)   Barber and beauty shops with more than one chair, and requiring any upgrade in electric 
service.  
      (2)   Dispatch centers, where workers come to the site to be dispatched to other locations. 
      (3)   Commercial stables, kennels, and animal boarding and care facilities. 



 

C -41 
 

      (4)   Assembly or repair of large appliances. 
      (5)   Repair or assembly of vehicles or equipment with internal combustion engines, or any other 
work related to motor vehicles and their parts. 
   (D)   Garage sales. Garage sales, also commonly called rummage or yard sales, are permitted as 
accessory uses provided they meet the following requirements: 
      (1)   Each such sale shall be permitted by a approved garage sale application. 
      (2)   Each property address and/or person shall be limited to no more than four such sales per 
year. 
      (3)   Sales shall not last longer than three consecutive days. 
      (4)   Sales are conducted on the owner's property. Multiple family sales are permitted if they are 
held on the property of one of the participants. 
      (5)   Directional and advertising signs, not larger than nine square feet, shall be free standing; that 
is, they shall not be placed on traffic or official signs, utility poles or trees, and shall be removed 
promptly after completion of the sale. 
(Ord. 2017-05-635, passed 5-2-17) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends approval of the code changes for Chapter 150, 
152, & 153. 

 

 

 

 



Approved_Projects_Expirations

Project Name Approval Date
Start/Expiration Date    

152.101
Comments

Paschall Heating and Air June 28, 2016 December 28, 2016 Temporary COO Issued 11/2017

Tontitown Self Storage LSD December 27, 2016 June 27, 2017 Expired

South Point Subdivision‐Phase I December 27, 2016 June 27, 2017 Still in Technical Review

Tontitown Winery  December 27, 2016 June 27, 2017 Temporary COO issued 11/12/17

Burton Warehouse February 28, 2017 August 28, 2017 In Construction

South Point Subdivision‐Phase II February 28, 2017 August 28, 2017 Technical Review

Edwards Commercial March 28, 2017 September 28, 2017 In Construction

Thomson Warehouse March 25, 2017 September 28, 2017 In Construction‐almost finished

Bolder Coffee‐LSD April 25, 2017 October 28, 2017 Expired

Venezia Piazza‐LSD April 25, 2017 October 28, 2017 In Construction

Hidden Valley April 25, 2017 October 28, 2017 In Construction

Liberty Phase II August 22, 2017 February 22, 2018 In Construction

Westbrook Subdivision Phase 2
submitted for Preliminary Plat approval 

11/28/17

 

11/27/2017 16:06



 Building  Activity Report: YTD - 2017 #  Permits YTD - 2016 Variance

 RESIDENTIAL VALUATION  31,028,185.65$  21,882,458.06$  $9,145,727.59
 Single Family Permits 92             

 COMMERCIAL VALUATION  6,440,842.50$    2,641,701.38$    $3,799,141.12

 RESIDENTIAL PERMIT FEES 127,995.91$       145           88,435.83$         $39,560.09

 COMMERCIAL PERMIT FEES 19,739.82$         16             2,226.65$           $17,513.17

 Other Permits 30,162.34$         574           23,424.91$         $6,737.43

 Total Fees Assessed 273,123.12$       199,097.41$       74,025.71$        

11/22/2017



November 13, 2017 Planning Board Subcommittee Meeting Notes: 

 

Darrell, Rocky, and Sue attended. Staff included James, Justin, Juliet, and Courtney 

 

Discussion of Survey and Survey Responses: 

 

Best ways to interact with Public: 

• City website 

• Tontitown Community Facebook page 

• Meetings 

• Public surveys 

• Online surveys 

• Public displays 

• Newsletter from Rhonda 

• Direct mailer in water bill and at water counter-see how much a self-addressed envelope 

addition would be 

 

Major challenges facing Tontitown: 

• Population growth (1, 1, 1, 8) 

• Traffic (5, 2, 2, 1) 

• Water Availability (3, 7, 7)   

• Sewer Availability (4, 6, 2)  

• Local jobs (8, 8, 6) 

• Unsightly Development (2, 4, 5)  

• Affordable Housing (10, 5, 3, 3) 

• Local commercial retail (6, 3, 4)  

• Local grocery (9, 9, 9) 

• Loss of greenspace and environmental concerns (7, 10, 10) 

Other: 

• Loss of original heritage 

 

Type of development Tontitown needs: 

• Residential (1, 2, 2) 

• Parks/recreational green spaces (2, 7, 1, 4) 

• Personal services (3, 4, 6) 

• Commercial Retail (1, 2, 1) 

• Office Space (5, 5) 

• Industrial (6, 7) 

• Downtown Commercial Development (3, 3) 

o This could be near the current city hall and park or by winery 

o Could discuss future museum location 

 

 



Types of businesses you would like to see: 

• Sit down restaurants (1, 1, 1, 4) 

• Retail (2, 2, 1) 

• Night life/entertainment (5, 3) 

• Personal Services (3, 4, 5) 

• Grocery Stores (4, 3, 2) 

• Gas Stations/cs (6, 6) 

Other: 

Churches 

Hotels 

Doctors 

Schools -need to research the Springdale School District to see which schools serve Tontitown 

Entertainment -family oriented, not like Dickson Street 

Library 

Tourism currently drives through, doesn’t stop 

Need day time activities to draw people to stop 

Walkable space 

Daycare 

More parks 

Golf? 

 

Types of housing needed: 

• Entry level (1, 1) 

• Apartments (9) 

• Townhomes (4)  

• Condo above commercial (5) 

• Duplex/triplex (10) 

• Mid-level single family homes (1, 8) 

• High-end single-family homes (2, 3) 

• Condos (7) 

• Senior Housing (1, 6) 

• Mixed housing developments (2) 

Other 

All of the Above 

 

Types of green space needed: 

• Small neighborhood parks (1) 

• Trails for connectivity (1) 

• Larger City Parks  

• Preservation of natural areas/open greenspace  

• Protection of Agricultural lands, historical features, and ecologically sensitive areas (2,  

Other: 

All of the above 



 

Greatest Strength: 

• Small town with a lot of heritage 

• Being removed from larger cities, still very agricultural  

• Small town feel 

 

Greatest Weakness: 

• Money to update infrastructure 

• Roads and sewer 

 

Greatest future opportunity: 

• Bring in a large company with many employment opportunities 

• Retail 

 

Biggest concern: 

• Preplanning growth that follows heritage and history 

• Getting a mayor who is not proactive 

• Reverting back to the Tontitown of old “good ole boys” 

 

What do you want for the future of Tontitown? 

• A quiet community without all the hazards of a large city 

• One of the big “5” 

 

Additional Discussion: 

• Branding is important 

• Street names should be in line with the history of Tontitown 

• Economic growth while maintaining small town feel 

• Respect heritage while allowing for more inclusivity  

• Stake holders need to be equal representation of old and new residents 

• More commercial will happen along 112 

• Industrial road connection necessary 

• Nothing between Tontitown and Siloam 

• New Catholic School will open in 2018 (anticipate K-8) 

• Future Public School location within the City?  SSD owns 20 acres behind Westbrook Subdivision 

• Future Zoning for public or institutional uses? 

• Look at Planning the growth of a City core area.  Possibilities include: City Hall/Park area, Church 

area, and Winery area 

• Obtain traffic counts from City as well as ARDOT and projections from NWARPC 

• Discuss infrastructure long-range plans (water, sewer, roads) 

• Discuss the possibility of impact fees 

• Moving beyond 412 being the sole commercial corridor (commercial along 112, neighborhood 

services commercial, commercial nodes, connect into City of Springdale’s growth on Tontitown’s 

eastern border) 



• Make Tontitown a destination- not just an area to drive through. 

• Offer overnight accommodations for tourists, ACH, etc.   

• Consider a roundabout on Barrington 

• Roads need to be able to accommodate large trucks where needed.  Continue to attract 

transportation hubs, supply chain hubs 

• Find a map that has zoning overlays in the City’s vault 

 

 

Sign Discussion: 

• Limit billboards 

• Limit digital distracting  

• Limit overbearing out of proportion signs 

• Illumination is a big issue especially related to residential areas 

• Safety-scrolling signs are not safe 

• In favor of bigger sign with single message vs scrolling 

• No strobing, no flashing, no animation, only change a couple times a day is a possibility 

• Sign Height is big concern 

• Consider overlay districts for certain geographic areas. 

 

 



 

 

City of Tontitown, Arkansas 

Future Land Use Plan 

DRAFT Mission, Goals, and Goals  

 

Mission 
To develop a Future Land Use Plan and Map which allow the city to thoughtfully 
plan, encourage, and manage growth and development while integrating the 
city’s rich heritage and improving quality of life for all citizens and business 
owners. 

 
Goal 1 
 

Preserve the small town feel of Tontitown while leveraging and integrating 
its rich history into the future fabric of development to create a regionally 
significant destination city within Northwest Arkansas.  

• Explore the creation of a Heritage zoning district at the City’s core that encompasses 

existing historical and institutional features of the City. 

• Explore branding opportunities for the City that reflect its heritage and key attractions. 

• Explore the creation of entry or gateway features for the City along thoroughfares. 

 
Goal 2 
 
Focus on creating complete streets, walkability, appropriate connections 
and physical infrastructure for existing and future development needs.  
 

Goal 3 
 

Utilizing both current and future development patterns, plan for the growth 
of a diversified economic base of commercial, industrial, and retail 
business development in Tontitown.  
Plan appropriately for the land use relationships and opportunities 
provided by adjacent cities and development. 

• Plan for a series of commercial nodes within the City; don’t just relegate commercial 

uses to areas solely along thoroughfares. 

• Carefully consider surrounding future development and its connections and impacts on 

the City : 

▪ Don Tyson extension; ACH- 56th Street connection and development 

▪ 412 Northern by-pass 

▪ Future connection with regional airport 



 

 

 
Goal 4 
Create a friendly and customer service oriented development environment 
which effectively manages development to provide for appropriate design, 
protect quality of life, and ensure safe and quality construction. 
 

Goal 5 
Plan for complete neighborhood service land uses along with residential 
growth: commercial services, offices, parks, and institutional uses, etc. 
 

Goal 6 
Create a diversity of residential development types that serve all sectors of 
the community and assure these are integrated appropriately into the 
existing fabric of the City. 
 

Goal 7 
Identify potential green spaces, recreational areas, streams, water bodies 
and other natural resources that could potentially act as green 
infrastructure within the City as it grows and develops. 

• Little Wildcat Creek and tributaries 

• Brush Creek and tributaries 

• Historic farms or significant natural areas 

 

 

 

 



 

BROOKS Landscape Architecture and Planning 
P.O. Box 3343         308 North Willow, Suite A 
Fayetteville, Arkansas 72702       Fayetteville, Arkansas 72701 
 
Travis G. Brooks, RLA    479.387.1769     travis@brookslandscapearchitecture.com 
Juliet B. Richey, CFM, ASLA, APA      479.409.9056     juliet@brookslandscapearchitecture.com 
 
 
Date:  November 28, 2017 
 
To: City of Tontitown Planning Commission 
 Courtney McNair, Planning Official  
 James Clark, Public Works Director 

Justin Eichmann, City Attorney 
 Paul Colvin, Mayor 
 
From: Juliet Richey, Brooks Landscape Architecture and Planning 
 
Re: Sign Ordinance, Future Land Use Plan, and Master Street Plan, Status Update  

 
Updates and progress, October 24- November 28, 2017:  

 

• A subcommittee meeting was held on November 13, 2017.  A synopsis of that meeting 

has been provided by the City Planning Official, Courtney McNair.  Generally speaking- it 

was a great kick-off meeting for the three projects, and productive conversations were 

had between staff, Planning Commissioners, and consultants. 

Sign Ordinance 

• Comparison of proposed ordinance with existing Tontitown Sign Ordinance and work on sign 
regulation frameworks was presented to the subcommittee 

• Discussion of various aspects and issues regarding the current sign regulations and discussion of 
new First Amendment case law requirements, including necessary changes to current sign 
regulations 

• Review of Johnson template and determine which categories to keep, to remove, and other 
categories to add 

• Discussion of desired sign types in relation to existing zoning categories 

• Discussion of possible future overlay districts and zones where special sign treatment may be 
warranted (412 and 112- possibly other districts defined in the FLU process) 
 

Future Land Use Map/Plan 

• Discussions with Mayor and other key City Staff to gain an understanding of the following: 
o Current land use related issues 
o The current and potential future economic drivers of the city  
o Current infrastructure issues and needs and timing of future infrastructure upgrades 

• Created first draft of Goals and Objectives (see attached) 
 

Master Street Plan/Sections 

• Discussion of Master Street Plan Function and goals 

• Preliminary review and discussion of existing MSP map and sections 

• Input on needed connections from Public Works Director, Planning Official, and Mayor 
 



 

Consultant/Staff action items to complete prior to December 27, 2017, PC Meeting: 
 

• Hold Subcommittee Meeting- Date TBD 

Sign Ordinance 

• Begin drafting new sign ordinance regulations based on agreed frameworks and direction from 

the Planning Commission, City Staff and consultants 

• Meet with the subcommittee on detailed drafting work for new sign ordinance regulations 

 
Future Land Use Map/Plan 

• In-depth review of existing Future Land Use Plan and Map by staff and Brooks LA   
o Pinpoint key areas for revision 

• Continued discussions with Mayor and other key City Staff to gain an understanding of 
the following: 

o Current land use related issues 
o The current and potential future economic drivers of the city  
o Current infrastructure issues and needs and timing of future infrastructure 

upgrades 

• Discussions with key developers, business owners, and community members 

• Create an inventory of existing land uses within the City and its planning area 

• Discussions with surrounding cities to ascertain future land use adjacent to city limits 
(Springdale, Johnson, Elm Springs, Fayetteville, etc.). 

• Discussions with Regional Planning to ascertain regional infrastructure and large-scale 
planning issues that might impact future land use within the City 

 

Master Street Plan/Sections 

• Review of existing MSP map and sections 

• City Staff and Brooks LA continue discussing potential area of Map and Street sections which may 
need to be updated 

• Review regional trail plan and catalyst projects and discuss connectivity 

• Contact and meet with USI if needed 

• Discuss the existing AHTD and City Traffic counts  

• Look at Regional Planning’s Travel Demand Model 

• Discussions with Regional Planning and Surrounding Cities regarding current and future street 
improvement projects, funding status, and connectivity 
 




